
PLANNING DEPARTMENT ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
============================================================== 

P.O. Box 40   •   Irrigon, Oregon 97844 
(541) 922-4624 or (541) 676-9061 x 5503

FAX: (541) 922-3472 

 AGENDA 
Morrow County Planning Commission 
Tuesday, February 25, 2025, 6:00 pm 

Morrow County Government Center, Irrigon, OR 
For Electronic Participation See Meeting Information on Page 2 

Members of Commission 
Stacie Ekstrom, Chair 
John Kilkenny, Vice Chair Karl Smith Brian Thompson 
Charlene Cooley Tripp Finch  Elizabeth Peterson 
Stephen Henthorn  Andrew Cemore 

Members of Staff 
Tamra Mabbott, Planning Director         Jim Bagley, Principal Planner      
Stephen Wrecsics, Associate Planner, GIS   Clint Shoemake, Planning Tech  
Michaela Ramirez, Administrative Assistant  Kaitlin Kennedy, Code Compliance Planner 

1. Call to Order

2. Introduction of new Planning Department staff, Principal Planner, Jim Bagley

3. Roll Call

4. Pledge of Allegiance

5. Minutes: (Draft) January 28, 2025 pg. 4-8

6. Public Hearings to begin at 6:00 PM (COMMISSION ACTION REQUIRED)

I. Continued Hearing.  Land Partition LP-N-529-24, Replat R-N-88-24: City of Boardman, 
Applicant, and Owner: The property is described as tax lot 134 of Assessor’s Map 4N 24. 
The property is zoned Space Age Industrial (SAI) and is located west of the City of 
Boardman, south of Interstate 84 and east of Tower Road. Kunze Lane bisects the middle of 
the parcel, located between proposed parcels 2 and 3.  The request is to replat Parcel 1 of 
Partition Plat 2014-05 into three parcels of the following approximate acreages:  12.7 acres, 
85.5 acres, and 208 acres.  Criteria for approval include Morrow County Zoning Ordinance 
Article 5 Land Partition Section 5.030 and 5.075 Replatting. pg. 9-76

II. Conditional Use permit CUP-N-378-24: Victor Calvillo, Applicant, and Owner 
Conditional Use Permit to allow the storage and operation of a commercial trucking 
business on a residential property. The property is described as Tax Lot 5800 of 

1

pg. 4-7



III. Conditional Use permit CUP-N-385-25: Eudoro Cardenas Herrera, Applicant, and Owner

7. Other Business: Code Compliance Update-Kaitlin Kennedy 
Long-range planning priorities -Tamra Mabbott 
February monthly update 

8. Correspondence:

9. Public Comment:

10. Adjourn

Next Meeting:  Tuesday, March 25, 2025, at 6:00 p.m. 
Location: Bartholomew Building, Heppner, OR 

ELECTRONIC MEETING INFORMATION 

Morrow County Planning is inviting you to a scheduled Zoom meeting. Topic: Planning Commission 
Time: February 25, 2025, 6:00 PM Pacific Time (US and Canada) 

Join Zoom Meeting 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/6554697321?pwd=dFMxR2xlaGZkK1ZJRFVrS1Q0SmRxUT09&omn=84249
165172  

Meeting ID: 655 469 7321 
Passcode: 513093 

Find your local number: https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kdmj6471tm 

Should you have any issues connecting to the Zoom meeting, please call 541-922-4624. Staff will 
be available at this number after hours to assist.  

This is a public meeting of the Morrow County Planning Commission and may be attended by a quorum 
of the Morrow County Board of Commissioners. Interested members of the public are invited to attend. 
The meeting location is accessible to persons with disabilities. A request for an interpreter for the hearing 
impaired, or for other accommodations for persons with disabilities, should be made at least 48 hours 
before the meeting to Tamra Mabbott at (541) 922-4624, or by email at tmabbott@co.morrow.or.us. 

Assessor’s Map 4N25E20A. The subject parcel is zoned Suburban Residential (SR) 
and is located inside of the City of Boardman Urban Growth Boundary (UGB). Criteria 
for approval include Morrow County Zoning Ordinance (MCZO) Article 3 Section 
3.050, Suburban Residential, and Article 6 Section 6.050.G, Standards Governing 
Conditional Uses, Home Occupations.       pg. 78-95

Conditional Use Permit to allow the storage and operation of a commercial trucking business 
on a residential property. The property is described as Tax Lot 403 of Assessor’s Map 
5N26E22D01. The subject parcel is zoned Rural Residential (RR) and is located outside of 
the City of Irrigon’s Urban Growth Boundary (UGB). Criteria for approval include Morrow 
County Zoning Ordinance (MCZO) Article 3 Section 3.050, Suburban Residential, and Article 
6 Section 6.050.G, Standards Governing Conditional Uses, Home Occupations. pg. 97-114

2

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/6554697321?pwd=dFMxR2xlaGZkK1ZJRFVrS1Q0SmRxUT09&omn=84249165172
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/6554697321?pwd=dFMxR2xlaGZkK1ZJRFVrS1Q0SmRxUT09&omn=84249165172
https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kdmj6471tm


THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

3



 Draft Minutes of the Public Meeting of the 
Morrow County Planning Commission 

Tuesday, January 28, 2025, 6:00 pm 
Bartholomew Building 

110 N Court St Heppner, OR 

COMMISSIONERS PRESENT: COMMISSIONERS ABSENT: 
Stacie Ekstrom, Chair  John Kilkenny 
Karl Smith 
Liz Peterson  
Trip Finch ATTENDANCE via ZOOM: 
Brian Thompson Andy Cemore  
Charlene Cooley 
Stephen Henthorn  

STAFF PRESENT: 
Tamra Mabbott, Planning Director 
Kaitlin Kennedy, Code Compliance Planner 
Michaela Ramirez, Administrative Assistant 
Staff Zoom: 
Stephen Wrecsics, GIS Analyst 
Clint Shoemake, Planning Technician 
Daisy Goebel, Principal Planner  

1. CALL TO ORDER
Chair Ekstrom called the meeting to order at 6:00 PM

2. ROLL CALL

3. PLEDGE

4. APPROVAL OF DECEMBER 3rd DRAFT MINUTES
Recommended Action: Approve
Action: Approved

Presented by: Planning Director Tamra Mabbott 

I. Variance V-N-053-24: Port of Morrow, Applicant, and Owner

Conflicts of interest: None 

Request: The property is described as tax lot 131 of Assessor’s Map 4N 24E 21. The property is zoned Air 
Industrial Park (AI) and is located on Boardman Airport Lane, south of the Boardman Airport, approximately 0.7 
miles southwest of the intersection with Tower Road. The request is to allow a variance to seek relief from the 
minimum right-of-way setback. Criteria for approval include Morrow County Zoning Ordnance (MCZO) Section 
7.200 Major Variance and Section 3.071 Air Industrial Park Zone.  

Chair Ekstrom opened the testimony part of the Public Hearing 

Testifying Parties: 

4



Walter Ross, Engineering Department at Port of Morrow 2 East Marine Dr, Boardman, 
OR  
Jacob Cain, Director of Engineering Port of Morrow, 2 East Marine Dr, Boardman, OR 

Proponents: None 
Opponents: None 
Neutral: None  

Questions or Comments for Applicant by Commissioners: Commissioner Finch, Henthorn 
Public Hearing is closed.   

Recommended Action: Approve Variance V-N-053-24 
Motion: Approve Variance V-N-053-24 
Motion by: Commissioner Thompson 
Seconded by: Commissioner Peterson 
Vote: All voted 
Action: Approved  

Presented by: Planning Director Tamra Mabbott 

II. Land Partition LP-N-529-24, Replat R-N-88-24: City of Boardman, Applicant, and Owner:

Conflicts of interest: None 

Request: The property is described as tax lot 134 of Assessor’s Map 4N 24.  The property is zoned Space Age 
Industrial (SAI) and is located west of the City of Boardman, south of Interstate 84, and east of Tower Road. 
Kunze Lane bisects the middle of the parcel, located between proposed parcels 2 and 3.  The request is to 
replat Parcel 1 of Partition Plat 2014-05 into three parcels of the following approximate acreages:  12.7 acres, 
85.5 acres, and 208 acres.  Criteria for approval include Morrow County Zoning Ordinance Article 5 Land 
Partition Section 5.030 and 5.075 Replatting. 

Motion to accept exhibits A-F: Commissioner Peterson 
Seconded by: Commissioner Cooley 
Vote: All voted 
Action: Approved  

Chair Ekstrom opened the testimony part of the Public Hearing 

Testifying Parties: 
Carla McLane, Planning Official, 200 City Center Circle, Boardman, OR  
Brandon Hammond, Boardman City Manager 200 City Center Circle, Boardman, OR 

Questions or Comments by Commissioners for Applicant: Commissioner Thompson, Finch 
Proponents: None 
Opponent: Jim Doherty, 68812 Wilson Ln, Boardman, OR 
Neutral: Teresa Penninger, Planning Manager at Oregon Department of Transportation, 3012 
Iron Ave, La Grande, OR 

5



Rebuttal from the Applicant: Carla McLane, Planning Official, 200 City Center Circle, 
Boardman, OR  
Questions or Comments by County Counsel: Dan Kearns 
Questions or Comments by Staff: Director Mabbott 
Anyone wanting to keep the record open or continued: Jim Doherty 
Questions or Comments by Commissioner: Chair Ekstrom  
Questions or Comments by County Counsel: Dan Kearns referred to the 7-7-7 rule, 
evidence relevant to the matter on February 4, response to the argument on Tuesday, February 
11, applicant’s final rebuttal on Tuesday, February 18, and then the Hearing on February 25, 
2025, Don Adams Conference Room in Irrigon, OR. 
Questions or Comments by Commissioner for Staff: Commissioner Finch 

Recommended Action: Continue Land Partition LP-N-529-24, Replat R-N-88-24 
Motion: Continue Land Partition LP-N-529-24, Replat R-N-88-24 
Motion by: Commissioner Thompson 
Seconded by: Commissioner Smith 
Vote: All voted 
Action: Approved  

Compliance Planner Kaitlin Kennedy presented: 

III. Conditional Use Permit CUP-N-383-24: Martin Guzman, Applicant, and Owner

Conflicts of interest: None 

Request: Conditional Use Permit to allow the storage and operation of a commercial trucking 
business on a residential property. The property is described as Tax Lot 2500 of Assessor’s Map 
4N25E20A. The subject parcel is zoned Suburban Residential (SR) and is located inside of the City 
of Boardman Urban Growth Boundary (UGB). Criteria for approval include Morrow County Zoning 
Ordinance (MCZO) Article 3 Section 3.050, Suburban Residential, and Article 6 Section 6.050.G, 
Standards Governing Conditional Uses, Home Occupations.     

Chair Ekstrom opened the testimony part of the Public Hearing: 

Testifying Parties: None 

Proponents: None 
Opponent: None 
Neutral: None 
Anyone wanting to keep the record open or continue: None 

Public Hearing is closed. 

Recommended Action: Approve Conditional Use Permit CUP-N-383-24 
Motion: Approve Conditional Use Permit CUP-N-383-24 
Motion by: Commissioner Peterson 
Seconded by: Commissioner Cooley 
Vote: All voted 
Action: Approved  

Compliance Planner Kaitlin Kennedy presented: 

IV. Public Hearing.  Conditional Use Permit CUP-N-384-24: Martin Guzman, Applicant, and Owner

6



Conflicts of interest: None 

Request: Conditional Use Permit to allow the storage and operation of a commercial trucking business on a 
residential property. The property is described as Tax Lot 2000 of Assessor’s Map 4N25E20A. The subject 
parcel is zoned Suburban Residential (SR) and is located inside  the City of Boardman Urban Growth 
Boundary (UGB). Criteria for approval include Morrow County Zoning Ordinance (MCZO) Article 3 Section 
3.050, Suburban Residential, and Article 6 Section 6.050.G, Standards Governing Conditional Uses, Home 
Occupations.       

Chair Ekstrom opened the testimony part of the Public Hearing: 

Testifying Parties: None 

Questions or Comments for Staff by Commissioners: None 
Proponents, Opponent, Neutral: None 
Anyone wanting to keep the record open or continue: None 

Public Hearing is closed. 

Recommended Action: Approve Conditional Use Permit CUP-N-384-24 
Motion: Approve Conditional Use Permit CUP-N-384-24 
Motion by: Commissioner Cooley 
Seconded by: Commissioner Henthorn 
Vote: All voted 
Action: Approved  

Other Business:  Discussion about ADU’s per Brian Thompson 
       January Planning Update 

Correspondence: None 

Public Comment: None 

Adjourned: Meeting adjourned at 7:46 PM 

Next Meeting:   Tuesday, February 25, 2025, at 6:00 p.m. The next meeting will be held in Irrigon, OR in the 
Morrow County Government Center. 

Respectfully submitted, 
Michaela Ramirez 

7



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

8



Record for Land Partition LP-N-529-24 

City of Boardman 

Exhibit Date Description Agency
A February 

18 Memo from Staff 
Planning 

Department 

B February 
18 Updated Preliminary Findings 

Planning 
Department 

C February 
18 

Applicant City of Boardman 
Final Rebuttal Applicant 

D Planning Commission Packet 
from January 28 

D.1 Preliminary Findings of Fact 

D.2 Vicinity Map & Adjacent 
property owners 

D.3 Detailed map 

D.4 Partition plat 

D.5 Access distances 

D.6 Zoning Map 

D.7 Appendix Roadway Standards 

D.8 Subdivision Art. 9 

D.9 Land Use Applications 

D.10 January 13 Letter from UEC 

D.11 January 8 Email from WEID 

E January 23 Comment letter/Brandon Pike ODAV 

F 
January 23 

Comment letter /Teresa 
Penninger ODOT 

G January 23 Map ODOT 

9



H January 24 Comment letter/Chet Sater USBR 

I January 27 Letter from Bev Bridgewater WEID 

J Map 

K January 28 Letter from Jim Doherty 
Adjacent 

landowner 

K.1 Picture 1 

K.2 Picture 2 

K.3 Picture 3 

 L January 28 Letter City of Boardman Applicant 

10



Exhibit A11



PRELIMINARY FINDINGS OF FACT 
LAND PARTITION REQUEST 

LP-N-529-24 
R-N-88-24 

  
REQUEST: To partition an approximately 306.7-acre parcel into three parcels, a replat of Parcel One of 
Partition Plat 2014-05.    
 
 
 
APPLICANT/OWNER   City of Boardman 
     Brandon Hammond, City Manager 
     200 City Center Circle 
     PO Box 229 
     Boardman, Oregon 97818 
 
PROPERTY DESCRIPTION:  Tax Lot 134 of Assessor’s Map 4N 24E also known as parcel one 

of Partition Plat 2014-05. 
  
PROPERTY LOCATION: Located on the east side of Tower Road at the intersection of 

Kunze Lane, southeast of the I-84 interchange. 
 
FINDINGS OF FACT: 
 
I. BACKGROUND INFORMATION:  

The subject parcel is zoned Space Age Industrial (SAI) and is located outside the Boardman 
Urban Growth Boundary (UGB). The applicant proposes to partition two parcels from the parent 
parcel, tax lot 134, also known as parcel one of Partition Plat 2014-05.  Technically, the 
application is to replat parcel One of PP 2014-05.  Proposed parcel 1 is approximately 12.7 acres;   
proposed parcel 2 is approximately 85.5 acres; proposed parcel 3 is approximately 208.5 acres.  
See the attached “detail map.”  All three proposed parcels are undeveloped.  Future 
development on the parcels was not identified as part of this application, however, the 
applicant is considering the possibility of a rezone and future development of an RV Park on 
proposed Parcel 2 and the development of a power substation on parcel 1.   
  

II. APPROVAL CRITERIA:  
Morrow County Subdivision Ordinance Article 5- Land Partitions will apply. Criteria are listed 
below in bold type, followed by a response in standard type.  

 
MORROW COUNTY SUBDIVISION ORDINANCE ARTICLE 5 LAND PARTITIONS SECTION 5.030. 
REQUIREMENTS FOR APPROVAL. No application for partitioning shall be approved unless the 
following requirements are met: 
1. Proposal is in compliance with the County and affected City Comprehensive Plan and 

applicable Zoning. 
 

12



Finding:   The applicant has submitted a preliminary partition plat.  The proposed 
partition meets the minimum parcel size requirements of the Zoning Ordinance and the 
Space Age Industrial Zone (SAI) and the Comprehensive Plan.  The applicant is required 
to submit a final partition plat in compliance with this Article and ORS Chapter 92. This is 
recommended and listed as a Condition of Approval. 
 

2. Each parcel is suited for the use intended or offered; including, but not limited to, 
sewage disposal approval and guaranteed access.  Proof of access must show that 
each parcel has an easement sufficient for continued ingress and egress to a public, 
county or state highway or has a deeded access way.  
 
Finding: The applicant has proposed three new parcels in the Space Age Industrial Zone 
(SAI zone), which has no minimum dimension requirements. The proposed parcels are 
adequate in size to accommodate the uses allowed in the SAI zone.  
 
Sewage Disposal 
Applicant did not identify specific development but indicated that Umatilla Electric 
Cooperative may purchase proposed parcel 1 for a future electric substation site and, a 
rezone application may be submitted for parcels 2 and 3 in the future.  Given the large 
size of the parcels, an onsite septic disposal system would not be precluded.  It is not 
recommended that the applicant be required to obtain site suitability for the parcels.  
 
Access 
The original application did not identify any new legal access.  The application noted 
that access “locations to be determined at the time of development.”   Since the original 
application, county staff and the applicant have discussed several options for access.   
 
Most recently, the applicant proposed using the existing 40-foot easement for proposed 
parcel 1 and deferring the identification of specific access locations for proposed parcels 
2 and 3 to the time of development, recognizing both have direct frontage to Tower 
Road and Kunze Lane.   
 
Morrow County and the Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT) are developing 
an Interchange Area Management Plan (IAMP) for the Tower Road and Interstate 84 
intersection.  The purpose of the study is to preserve the safety and functionality of the 
interchange. The study area extends from I-84 on the north to Boardman Airport Lane 
on the south.  As part of the IAMP, new access management standards will be proposed.  
The final IAMP will be processed as a legislative amendment to the county 
Transportation System Plan (TSP).  Until that plan is adopted, land use actions and 
access and road standards are those identified in the Subdivision Ordinance, the Zoning 
Ordinance, and the TSP.  If specific access locations are not required as part of this 
application, future development will be subject to the access spacing and management 
standards in place at the time of application, including new standards anticipated with 
adoption of the IAMP. 
 

Commented [CM1]: I have provided recently the DEQ 
letter related to the site suitability for proposed Parcel 2. 

13



Access for proposed parcel 1 The preliminary partition plat map shows an the existing 
40 foot easement that begins at from Kunze Lane on the south and , extendsing to the 
north along the eastern boundary of proposed parcel Parcel 2 and endsing at the west 
terminus of parcel Parcel 1.  See attached preliminary plat.  That existing easement is 40 
feet in width.  Minimum roadway easement is 60 feet according to Subdivision 
Ordinance Article 8 (W) below.  

 
The existing 40-foot easement will serve two (2) parcels as part of the subject land 
partition.  However, that easement could also serve parcel 2, a 85.51-acre parcel.  Parcel 
2 has the potential to be further partitioned and the access for those future parcels 
wcould be the easement or Kunze Lane.  Therefore, it is recommended as a condition of 
approval that the applicant dedicate 20 feet to the existing easement which would 
result in a 60-foot easement.  That 60-foot easement would meet the Easement and 
Legal Access standard shown above.  
 
The 60 foot easement is further supported in the Subdivision Ordinance Article 5 below.  
 
Article 5 Land Partitioning Section 5.030 Requirements for Approval  
(2) Each parcel is suited for the use intended or offered; including, but not limited to, 
size of the parcels, topography, sewage disposal approval and guaranteed access.  
Proof of access must show that each parcel has an easement sufficient for continued 
ingress and egress to a public, county or state highway or has a deeded access way.  
 
Article 5 Land Partitioning Section 5.030 (9) and 5.030(9)(g) In the approval of a land 
partition, the need for street and other improvements will be considered and may be 
required as a Condition of Approval at a different standard than for a subdivision.  
 
Note:  the existing easement is approximately coterminous with the “old Kunze Road” 
which was re-aligned to its current location as shown on the attached maps.  The 
current location of the Kunze Lane right of way (with improvements) is the proposed 
boundary between proposed parcel 2 and parcel 3.  Based on staff research, “old Kunze 
Road” has never formally been vacated.  A portion of the abandoned Kunze Lane is 
located on land owned by Loves Truck Stop.  The other portion of the “old Kunze Road” 

Commented [TM3R2]: See changes in blue.   

Commented [CM2]: This directional is confusing to me. 

Commented [CM4]: This is not an accurate reflection of 
the preliminary plat. It only shows the existing easement to 
the UEC ownership. We do need to show an ingress/egress 
easement to serve proposed Parcel 1.  
 
Boardman is willing to accept a Condition of Approval to 
extend that 40 foot easement to the east terminating at the 
eastern boundary of proposed Parcel 1 with a cul-de-sac 
meeting the Boardman Rural Fire standards for 
circumference for turn-around.  

Commented [TM5R4]: See prelim plat submitted with 
application and revised conditions of approval. 

Commented [CM6]: The reference to this as a ‘roadway’ 
is misleading It is an access easement and nothing more.  

Commented [TM7R6]: The easement shown on the 
preliminary plat is co-terminus with “old Kunze Road” and 
contains a degraded asphalt surface.  

Commented [CM8]: Not necessarily. Proposed Parcel 2 
has significant frontage on Kunze Lane and Tower Road that 
future access could be taken from not unlike the earlier 
comment that access for proposed Parcels 2 and 3 can be 
deferred to development based on that same frontage.  

Commented [TM9R8]: Based on the Article 8 standard 
above, access must be shown at time of the land partition 
approval.  Improvements could be deferred to time of 
development which is listed as a condition of approval.  

Commented [TM10R8]: See also Subdivision Ordinance 
Sections 5.030(2) and (9)(g). 

Commented [CM11]: This is a request that may not meet 
the Dolan standards as the easement is only proposed to 
serve the existing UEC parcel and proposed Parcel 1. Access 
to proposed Parcel 2 is reasonably requested from Kunze 
Land and Tower Road. Future development of proposed 
Parcel 2, including future division, is the appropriate time to 
address increasing the width of the current 40 foot 
easement. 

Commented [TM12R11]: County will check with 
Attorney Dan Kearns. 

Commented [CM13]: Research completed when the 
‘new Kunze Lane’ was dedicated found no evidence that ‘old 
Kunze Lane’ was ever dedicated.  

Commented [TM14R13]: True, however, many county 
roads have never been formally “dedicated.”  County 
surveyor and County Public Works Director have agreed 
that it is in the best interest of county to formally ...

14



is located on land owned by the City of Boardman, which is also the applicant for this 
land partition.   
 
Access for proposed parcels 2 and 3 As noted above, the applicant proposes that the 
county make a finding that Kunze Lane and Tower Road are viable options for future 
access given the length of the roadways and the fact that a specific development has 
not been identified.   Applicant further requests that the county not impose a condition 
of approval requiring that they identify specific access points or obtain access permits.    
 
Although a specific development is not proposed as part of this application and future 
traffic generation is unknown, Article 5 above requires the county find that the parcels 
have a guaranteed access.  Neither parcel 2 or 3 currently have a permitted access 
permit from County Public Works.  There are many existing driveways and access points 
along Tower Road (see attached Tower Road Access Map).   Tower Road is classified as a 
rural arterial I based on traffic volumes.  See Roadway Standards below.  

 
 
The minimum spacing standard on a rural arterial is 300 feet for access and 600 feet for 
public or private access roads.  See TSP Table 6-3 below.   

15



 
 
In order to find that access locations for the new parcels will meet the guaranteed 
access requirement in Article 5.030 and in order to find that the new access road or 
driveway complies with the spacing standards in Table 6-3, and, given the high volume 
of traffic on Tower Road and the large number of existing access and driveways on 
Tower Road, the following two conditions are proposed below and also included in the 
Conditions of Approval. 
 

A) Access to proposed parcel 1 will be the existing access/roadway easement 
located along the eastern boundary of proposed parcel 2 beginning on the 
north side of Kunze Lane and extending north where it intersects with tax 
lot 122 and then continuing to the western boundary of proposed parcel 1.   
As part of this access, the applicant will dedicate an additional 20 feet to the 
existing 40-foot access/roadway easement, conforming to the 60-foot 
minimum roadway standard.  Additionally, a turnaround at the western 
terminus will be dedicated on the final plat to allow for emergency vehicle 
access and turnaround.  Specific turnaround design standards will comply 
with the recommendations of the Boardman Fire District. 

 
B) Obtain access to proposed parcel 2 and proposed parcel 3 to Kunze Lane.  

An access permit from County Public Works will may be required before 
signing final plat.  An access permit is recommended as a subsequent 
condition of approval, prior to development.  

 
3. All required public service and facilities are available and adequate.  

 

Commented [CM15]: We are opposed to the western 
boundary. The eastern boundary is adequate when coupled 
with the cul-de=sac.  

Commented [TM16R15]: The underlying zoning allows 
for future partitioning and therefore the easement width 
and extension to the western boundary is necessary in order 
to provide for future access to parcel 1 if that parcel is 
further partitioned.  Terminating the easement at the 
eastern boundary would necessarily preclude future 
partitioning of parcel 1.  It is necessary to secure access with 
this replat given that parcel 1 and parcel 2 may not have the 
same ownership in the future. 

Commented [CM17]: We are opposed to the additional 
20 feet as it could be a taking without showing the impacts. 
Only two parcels are taking direct access which only 
requires 40 feet. 

Commented [TM18R17]: Based on minimum access 
standard for current and future parcels, 60 feet appears to 
be appropriate.  County will request Attorney Dan Kearns 
review.  

Commented [CM19]: We are opposed to this COA as it is 
not consistent with the requirements of the MC Subdivision 
Ordinance. This standard requires guaranteed access which 
both proposed Parcels 2 and 3 have based on frontage to 
both Tower Road and Kunze Lane.  
 
An Access Permit is required at the time of development, 
not division, at 8.020 Streets T. Access Management 4.  

Commented [TM20R19]: A physical access has been 
identified, however, this COA would require an access be 
permitted.  This is recommended as a subsequent condition 
of approval (prior to development).  

16



Finding: Electricity and telephone services are available in the area; the Applicant will be 
responsible for coordinating with local providers for future service. No other public services or 
facilities are available. 
 

4. Proposal will not have any identifiable adverse impacts on adjoining or area land uses, public 
services and facilities, and natural resource-carrying capacities. 
 
Finding: The proposed parcels are zoned Space Age Industrial (SAI). Future use is yet to be 
determined; therefore, no adverse impacts are anticipated to be considered for this land 
partition application.   Although no specific future use is identified, it is presumed that the new 
development will include a new on-site well and septic system.  
 
This property is in an area designated for water quality concerns by the Oregon Department of 
Environmental Quality. Specifically, the subject property is in the Lower Umatilla Basin 
Groundwater Management Area (LUBGWMA). The Department of Environmental Quality 
designated the LUBGWMA in 1990 due to elevated nitrate concentrations in groundwater. It is 
recommended that wells used for drinking water be tested at least bi-annually to determine 
nitrate concentrations and to notify persons drinking the water about public health impacts. 
 
Each of the proposed parcels are large and would appear to have adequate area for an on-site 
well and septic system.  Specific permitting for on-site septic can be deferred to the 
development review process when more precise septic system demands can be evaluated.  
 
Notice will be provided to the owners of property adjacent to the exterior boundaries of the 
existing parcel, as well as to the Oregon DEQ, who may provide additional comment.  

 
5. An approved water rights diversion plan as applicable. 
 
 Finding: Preliminary Findings of Fact will be referred to the Regional Watermaster and the West 

Extension Irrigation District (WEID) for review and comment. As a condition of approval, it is 
recommended that the applicant comply with any recommendations of the Watermaster 
relative to water rights allocation amongst the three parcels.  

 
 Based on the most recent GIS shapefile from the West Extension Irrigation District (WEID) a very 

small area of proposed parcel 3 is within the WEID boundaries.   The terminus of the WEID canal 
ends at the abutting property to the east.   WEID provided comments noting that there is a 
federal ditch on the property and an undefined federal Bureau of Reclamation easement.  It is 
recommended that the applicant comply with recommendations of the WEID.  

 
6. Flag lots will not be permitted when the results would be to increase the number of properties 

requiring direct and individual access from a State Highway or other arterial. Flag lots may be 
permitted to achieve planning objectives under the following conditions: 
a. When flag lot driveways are separated by at least twice the minimum frontage 

distance. 
b. The driveway must meet driveway standards described in Article 8, Section 8.020.V. 

17



c. The lot meets the minimum lot area of the zoning district, without including the 
driveway. 

d. Only one flag lot shall be permitted per private right-of-way or access easement. 
 
Finding: This provision does not apply as no flag lots are proposed. 
 

7. The depth of any lot will not be restricted as long as a buildable parcel is proposed. 
 
Finding: The applicant has proposed three new parcels in the Space Age Industrial Zone (SAI 
zone), which has no minimum dimension (parcel size) requirements. The proposed parcels are 
adequate in size to accommodate the allowed uses in the SAI zone. 
 

8. An application for partitioning will be denied when it can be shown that the partitioning is 
part of a plan or scheme to create more than three (3) parcels without going through 
subdivision or is part of a development pattern creating more than three (3) parcels without 
subdividing. If the Planning Director determines that the proposed partition constitutes series 
partitioning, or if series partitioning has occurred in the past, then the Planning Director may 
require the application be subject to the requirements for a subdivision or Planned Unit 
Development. 

 Finding:   The most recent land partition was in 2014.  See Partition Plat 2014-5.  The Loves 
Truck Stop parcel was partitioned from the larger parcel in 2012.  See Partition Plat 2012-13.  
The property was partitioned in 2003.  See Partition Plant No. 2003-04.  The applicant is not 
proposing a total of three lots, further land partitioning at this time; however, approval of this 
partition would not preclude further partitioning.  The county could require this partition to 
meet subdivision standards, however, that is not recommended at this time.  One of the primary 
differences between subdivision standards and partitioning standards is the requirement to 
construct and develop roadways. See Article 9 Improvements and Article 9 Section 9.010 
Improvement Procedures for Subdivisions.  See also TSP Appendix A Roadway Standards 
(attached).   

 

 

 The applicant has requested that the county not require improvements at this time.   As a 
condition of approval, it is recommended that further partitioning comply with the subdivision 
review process and standards in Article 9.  Additionally, a condition of approval is recommended 
to require the access easement to parcel 1 be constructed to a minimum Rural Access II 
standard prior to development on Parcel 1.  This is noted below as a subsequent condition of 
approval.   If parcel 2 is further partitioned the roadway standard for the 60-foot easement will 
change and improvements may need to be changed to a higher volume standard.   

9. In addition to the requirements set forth above, the following factors may be considered for 
approval or disapproval of an application for land partitioning if a geographical or other factor 

Commented [CM21]: We are opposed to this request to 
improve an access easement as it is outside of the County’s 
authority. The County’s Roadway Standards are applicable 
to dedicated roads and lanes, not access easements. 

Commented [TM22R21]: County Findings support 
dedication of an easement but could require dedication of a 
road right of way.  County support of a 60 foot easement is 
the minimum easement width standard.  See Article 8 
Roadway Design Standards above.   

18



identified by other, appropriate professionals or plans such as the requirements of the 
Comprehensive Plan, FEMA requirements, Byways rules, etc., requires it: 

 a. Placement and availability of utilities. 
 b. Safety from fire, flood and other natural hazards. 

c. The same improvements may be required for a partitioning as required of a 
subdivision, if required it will be installed by the applicant. 

d. Possible effects on natural, scenic and historical resources. 
e. Need for onsite or offsite improvements. 
f. Need for additional setback, screening, landscaping and other requirements relative 

to the protection of adjoining and area land uses.  If the proposed partition is located 
within an Urban Growth Boundary, the affected city must be given notice according to 
the respective Joint Management agreement. 

g. In the approval of a land partition, the need for street and other improvements will be 
considered and may be required as a Condition of Approval at a different standard 
than for a subdivision. 

 
Finding: The proposed parcels are not within the Flood Overlay Zone and are within the 
Boardman Rural Fire Protection District.   Part of the property is located within the 
Airport Safety and Compatibility (ASC) Zone which is intended to protect and support 
the continued operation of the Boardman public use airport by establishing 
compatibility and safety standards and to reduce potential safety hazards for persons 
living, working or recreating near that airport.   The proposed parcel configuration does 
not appear to conflict with airport operation safety and functionality.  Compliance with 
ASC Zone will be required as part of future development approval.  
 

MORROW COUNTY SUBDIVISION ORDINANCE ARTICLE 5 LAND PARTITIONS SECTION 5.075. 
REPLATTING.   A reconfiguration of a recorded subdivision or partition plat or a change in the 
number of lots in the subdivision or partition may be approved by the Planning Commission or 
as defined in ORS 92.180.  Replats will act to vacate the platted lots or parcels and easements 
within the replat area with the following conditions: 

 
1. A replat will apply only to a recorded plat. 

Finding:  A replat is required as the applicant is proposing to reconfigure Parcel 1 of 
Partition Plat 2014-5.  

  
2. Notice shall be provided when the replat is replatting all of an undeveloped subdivision as 

defined in ORS 92.225. 
Finding:  This provision does not apply as this is not a replat of an undeveloped 
subdivision. Rather, this is a replat of a Partition Plat.  However, notice was provided under 
the requirements of the Morrow County Subdivision Ordinance. 

  
3. Notice shall be provided to the owners of property adjacent to the exterior boundaries of 

the tentative subdivision replat. 

19



Finding:  Notice has been provided to adjoining property owners and affected agencies. 
  

4. When a utility easement is proposed to be realigned, reduced in width or omitted by a 
replat, all affected utility companies or public agencies shall be notified, consistent with a 
governing body’s notice to owners of property contiguous to the proposed plat. Any utility 
company that desires to maintain an easement subject to vacation under this section 
must notify the Planning Department in writing within 14 days of the mailing or other 
service of the notice. 
Finding:  No changes to utility easements are proposed.  This replat is at the request of 
the landowner. 

  
5. A replat will not serve to vacate any public street or road. 

 
Finding: No streets or roads are proposed to be vacated. 

  
6. A replat will comply with all subdivision provisions of this Article and all applicable 

Ordinances.  
Finding:  This requirement is met as the parcels were subject to the provisions of this 
Article with both the previous partition and this proposal. The applicant will need to submit 
both a preliminary and final partition plat to comply with this Article and ORS Chapter 92. 
This is recommended and listed as a Condition of Approval. 

 
 

IV. AGENCIES NOTIFIED: Greg Silbernagel, Watermaster; Mike Gorman, Morrow County Assessor; Steve 
Freeland, Emergency Management; Eric Imes and Rory Rowlette, Morrow County Public Works; 
Matt Kenny, Morrow County Surveyor; Mike Hughes, Boardman RFPD; Mike Hiatt, Oregon 
Department of Environmental Quality; Oregon DEQ Eastern Region Office; Teresa Penninger, Oregon 
Department of Transportation; Chris Kowitz, Oregon Water Resources Department; Greg 
Silbernagel, Oregon Water Resources Department; Bev Bridgewater, West Extension Irrigation 
District; Brian Hammond, City of Boardman; Brian Snyder, Umatilla County Undersheriff; Lisa 
Mittelsdorf and Jacob Cain, Port of Morrow, Sean Kimbrel, U.S. Bureau of Reclamation, Hermiston 
Field Office. 

 
V. PROPERTY OWNERS NOTIFIED: January 8, 2025 

 
VI. PLANNING COMMISSION DECISION: This application may be approved subject to the following  
  
 Precedent Conditions of Approval. These conditions must be completed before the Planning 

Director may sign the final partition plat and before the land may be deeded to a third party. 
 

 Submit a final partition plat in compliance with Article 5 of the Morrow County Subdivision 
Ordinance and ORS Chapter 92. 
 

20



1. Dedicate a cul-de-sac at the eastern terminus of ‘Love’s Road’ consistent with the Boardman 
Fire District standards.  
  

2. Show existing and proposed easements on the Final Partition Plat, including the dedication of 20 
feet to the existing public 40 feet access/roadway easement from Kunze Road on the south, 
northerly along the eastern boundary of proposed parcel #2, and then westerly to the west 
boundary of proposed parcel #1. The current 40 feet easement along with eastern boundary of 
proposed Parcel 2 shall be continued at its northern terminus to the west to serve proposed 
Parcel 2, terminating at the eastern boundary of proposed Parcel 2 with The final plat shall also 
include an emergency access turnaround at the west terminus of the 60-foot access/roadway 
easement to parcel #1.  

 
3. Improve the roadway easement to comply with Section 6 of the Morrow County Transportation 

System Plan.   Road improvement may be deferred as a subsequent condition of approval which 
would require the road be built prior to development.   

 
4. Obtain an Access Permit from Morrow County Public Works, for new driveway or roadway to 

Kunze Road for proposed parcels #2 and #3. 
 

5. Obtain preliminary septic suitability from Umatilla County Environmental Health for proposed 
parcel #1.  Note:  this may be deferred if future development is identified, and septic will not be 
required for the development on that parcel.   

 
6. File appropriate documents to confirm water rights allocation, consistent with 

recommendations of the watermaster.  
 

7. Comply with recommendations of the West Extension Irrigation District.  
 

8. Comply with recommendations of the U.S. Bureau of Reclamation regarding the federal right of 
way on the property.   

 
9. Comply with recommendations of the Oregon Department of Aviation, if any are recommended 

for this partition application.  
 
 
 
 
Subsequent Conditions of Approval.  These conditions apply after the Final Partition and Replat have 
been approved and prior to development.  
 

1. Construct a roadway on the public 60-foot easement to parcel 1 before development. Minimum 
roadway standard shall be Rural Access 1 (illustrated in the Morrow County TSP Appendix A 
Roadway Standards).  The public roadway will not be the responsibility of the county to maintain.  

Commented [CM23]: What part of Chapter 6 is 
applicable to an access easement? These standards address 
dedicated right-of-way and not access easements.  

Commented [CM24]: This COA is inconsistent with your 
analysis above. 

Commented [CM25]: There are no known water rights 
on the subject property. 

Commented [CM26]: We are concerned with this COA as 
written as the recommendations of the WEID are regularly 
unachievable or out of balance with the impact. Additionally 
the WEID letter indicates no District improvements on the 
subject property.  

Commented [CM27]: The submitted letter only refers to 
development impacts. Based on that letter this COA should 
be removed.  

21



As part of the future development review process, the county will require a road maintenance 
agreement.   
 

2. Further partitioning of parcels may be subject to subdivision standards and processes.  
 
 
 
 

Edited Findings for City for Boardman Land Partition Application 
 
 
VI. PLANNING COMMISSION DECISION: This application may be approved subject to the following  
 Precedent Conditions of Approval. These conditions must be completed before the Planning 

Director may sign the final partition plat and before the land may be deeded to a third party. 
 

1. Submit a final partition plat suitable for recording and in compliance with Article 5 of the 
Morrow County Subdivision Ordinance and ORS Chapter 92 that demonstrates compliance with 
these conditions as applicable. 
  

2. Show existing and new easements on the Final Partition Plat, including the dedication of an 
additional 20 feet of width to the existing public 40-foot wide access/roadway easement (total 
of 60-foot width) from Kunze Road on the south, northerly along the eastern boundary of 
proposed parcel #2, and then westerly to the west boundary of proposed parcel #1.  The final 
plat shall also dedicate as part of the access route an emergency access turnaround at the west 
terminus of the 60-foot access/roadway easement to parcel #1 that meets the requirements of 
the Boardman Fire Department.  MCZO Article 8(W). 

 
3. Improve the roadway easement described in Condition 2 to comply with the road standards in 

Section 6 of the Morrow County Transportation System Plan.   Road improvement may be 
deferred as a subsequent condition of approval, which would require the road be built prior to 
any development that generates any vehicular traffic, including development that requires only 
a building permit.   

 
4. Obtain an Access Permit from Morrow County Public Works, for new driveway or roadway to 

Kunze Road for proposed parcels #2 and #3.  
 

5. Obtain preliminary septic suitability from Umatilla County Environmental Health for proposed 
parcel #1.  Note:  this may be deferred if future development is identified, and septic will not be 
required for the development on that parcel.   

 
6. Provide verification from Oregon Water Resources Department that the parcel has no water 

rights. File appropriate documents to confirm water rights allocation, consistent with 
recommendations of the watermaster.  

 

Commented [CM28]: As stated above this COA is an 
overreach as the easement is not a public road or land that 
would be subject to county review.  

Commented [CM29]: The city would request that a more 
clearly defined indicator of what would trigger this 
additional level of review be stated. If that cannot be 
accomplished we would argue it should be removed.  

Commented [TM30]: No changes proposed to this - it 
excludes the change proposed by ODOT.  

Commented [TM31]: This is important from County 
perspective given the long list of “outright uses” in the SAI 
zone and the fact we cannot put conditions on a Zoning 
Permit.  This could be moved to a subsequent condition 
and, it could be a condition prior to development (after plat 
is recorded) so the owner of parcel 1 would be resonsible 
for the road improvement. 

Commented [TM32]: We can include Findings that note 
the opportunity for a new access along Kunze Road and 
defer the access permit to that time.  The Findings will also 
note that future access will be subject to the Tower Road 
IAMP after adoption  

Commented [TM33]: We can move this to subsequent 
condition, or, if UEC permits the substation then we could 
remove this condition as a substation would not require a 
septic.  The Doherty letter raises concern about septic which 
we can address in the findings.   

22



 
 
 
Subsequent Conditions of Approval.  These conditions apply after the Final Partition and Replat have 
been approved and prior to development.  
 

1. Construct a roadway on the public 60-foot easement to parcel 1 prior to any development that 
generates any vehicular traffic. Minimum roadway standard shall be Rural Access 2 (illustrated in 
the Morrow County TSP Appendix A Roadway Standards).  The public roadway will not be the 
responsibility of the county to maintain.  As part of the future development review process, the 
county will require a road maintenance agreement.   
 

2. Further partitioning of parcels may be subject to subdivision standards and processes.  
 
 

3. Consult with the West Extension Irrigation District prior to development. 
 

4. Consult with U.S. Bureau of Reclamation regarding the federal right of way on the property, prior 
to development.   

 
5. Consult with recommendations of the Oregon Department of Aviation prior to development.   

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Stacie Ekstrom, Chair  
Morrow County Planning Commission 

ATTACHMENTS: 
Vicinity Map 
Detail Map  
Preliminary Plat Map 
Tower Road Access Map 
MCSO Article 9 
Roadway Standards 
Application forms (2) 
Letters from agencies and others 

Commented [TM34]: As noted above, this road 
improvement can be deferred so it would not be a city 
expense - pass along to future owner.  I also changed the 
standard to Rural Access 2, a gravel standard.  

23



Exhibit C
24



25



26



27



PRELIMINARY FINDINGS OF FACT 
LAND PARTITION REQUEST 

LP-N-529-24 
R-N-88-24

REQUEST: To partition an approximately 306.7-acre parcel into three parcels, a replat of Parcel One of 
Partition Plat 2014-05.    

APPLICANT/OWNER City of Boardman 
Brandon Hammond, City Manager 
200 City Center Circle 
PO Box 229 
Boardman, Oregon 97818 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION: Tax Lot 134 of Assessor’s Map 4N 24E also known as parcel one 
of Partition Plat 2014-05. 

PROPERTY LOCATION: Located on the east side of Tower Road at the intersection of 
Kunze Lane, southeast of the I-84 interchange. 

FINDINGS OF FACT: 

I. BACKGROUND INFORMATION:
The subject parcel is zoned Space Age Industrial (SAI) and is located outside the Boardman
Urban Growth Boundary (UGB). The applicant proposes to partition two parcels from the parent
parcel, tax lot 134, also known as parcel one of Partition Plat 2014-05.  Technically, the
application is to replat parcel One of PP 2014-05.  Proposed parcel 1 is approximately 12.7 acres;
proposed parcel 2 is approximately 85.5 acres; proposed parcel 3 is approximately 208.5 acres.
See the attached “detail map.”  All three proposed parcels are undeveloped.  Future
development on the parcels was not identified as part of this application, however, the
applicant is considering the possibility of a rezone and future development of an RV Park on
proposed Parcel 2 and the development of a power substation on parcel 1.

II. APPROVAL CRITERIA: 
Morrow County Subdivision Ordinance Article 5- Land Partitions will apply. Criteria are listed
below in bold type, followed by a response in standard type.

MORROW COUNTY SUBDIVISION ORDINANCE ARTICLE 5 LAND PARTITIONS SECTION 5.030.
REQUIREMENTS FOR APPROVAL. No application for partitioning shall be approved unless the
following requirements are met:
1. Proposal is in compliance with the County and affected City Comprehensive Plan and

applicable Zoning.

Finding:   The applicant has submitted a preliminary partition plat.  The proposed
partition meets the minimum parcel size requirements of the Zoning Ordinance and the

Exhibit D.128



Space Age Industrial Zone (SAI) and the Comprehensive Plan.  The applicant is required 
to submit a final partition plat in compliance with this Article and ORS Chapter 92. This is 
recommended and listed as a Condition of Approval. 

2. Each parcel is suited for the use intended or offered; including, but not limited to,
sewage disposal approval and guaranteed access.  Proof of access must show that
each parcel has an easement sufficient for continued ingress and egress to a public,
county or state highway or has a deeded access way.

Finding: The applicant has proposed three new parcels in the Space Age Industrial Zone
(SAI zone), which has no minimum dimension requirements. The proposed parcels are
adequate in size to accommodate the uses allowed in the SAI zone.

Sewage Disposal
Applicant did not identify specific development but indicated that Umatilla Electric
Cooperative may purchase proposed parcel 1 for a future electric substation site and, a
rezone application may be submitted for parcels 2 and 3 in the future.  Given the large
size of the parcels, an onsite septic disposal system would not be precluded.  It is not
recommended that the applicant be required to obtain site suitability for the parcels.

Access
The original application did not identify any new legal access.  The application noted
that access “locations to be determined at the time of development.”   Since the original
application, county staff and the applicant have discussed several options for access.

Most recently, the applicant proposed using the existing 40-foot easement for proposed
parcel 1 and deferring the identification of specific access locations for proposed parcels
2 and 3 to the time of development, recognizing both have direct frontage to Tower
Road and Kunze Lane.

Morrow County and the Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT) are developing
an Interchange Area Management Plan (IAMP) for the Tower Road and Interstate 84
intersection.  The purpose of the study is to preserve the safety and functionality of the
interchange. The study area extends from I-84 on the north to Boardman Airport Lane
on the south.  As part of the IAMP, new access management standards will be proposed.
The final IAMP will be processed as a legislative amendment to the county
Transportation System Plan (TSP).  Until that plan is adopted, land use actions and
access and road standards are those identified in the Subdivision Ordinance, the Zoning
Ordinance, and the TSP.  If specific access locations are not required as part of this
application, future development will be subject to the access spacing and management
standards in place at the time of application, including new standards anticipated with
adoption of the IAMP.

Access for proposed parcel 1 The preliminary partition plat map shows the existing
easement from Kunze Lane on the south, extending to the north along the eastern
boundary of proposed parcel 2 and ending at the west terminus of parcel 1.  See

29



attached preliminary plat.  That existing easement is 40 feet in width.  Minimum 
roadway easement is 60 feet according to Subdivision Ordinance Article 8 (W) below. 

The existing 40-foot easement will serve two (2) parcels as part of the subject land 
partition.  However, that easement could also serve parcel 2, a 85.51-acre parcel.  Parcel 
2 has the potential to be further partitioned and the access for those future parcels 
would be the easement or Kunze Lane.  Therefore, it is recommended as a condition of 
approval that the applicant dedicate 20 feet to the existing easement which would 
result in a 60-foot easement.  That 60-foot easement would meet the Easement and 
Legal Access standard shown above.  

Note:  the existing easement is approximately coterminous with the “old Kunze Road” 
which was re-aligned to its current location as shown on the attached maps.  The 
current location of the Kunze Lane right of way (with improvements) is the proposed 
boundary between proposed parcel 2 and parcel 3.  Based on staff research, “old Kunze 
Road” has never formally been vacated.  A portion of the abandoned Kunze Lane is 
located on land owned by Loves Truck Stop.  The other portion of the “old Kunze Road” 
is located on land owned by the City of Boardman, which is also the applicant for this 
land partition.   

Access for proposed parcels 2 and 3 As noted above, the applicant proposes that the 
county make a finding that Kunze Lane and Tower Road are viable options for future 
access given the length of the roadways and the fact that a specific development has 
not been identified.   Applicant further requests that the county not impose a condition 
of approval requiring that they identify specific access points or obtain access permits.   

Although a specific development is not proposed as part of this application and future 
traffic generation is unknown, Article 5 above requires the county find that the parcels 
have a guaranteed access.  Neither parcel 2 or 3 currently have a permitted access 
permit from County Public Works.  There are many existing driveways and access points 
along Tower Road (see attached Tower Road Access Map).   Tower Road is classified as a 
rural arterial I based on traffic volumes.  See Roadway Standards below.  

30



The minimum spacing standard on a rural arterial is 300 feet for access and 600 feet for 
public or private access roads.  See TSP Table 6-3 below.   

In order to find that access locations for the new parcels will meet the guaranteed 
access requirement in Article 5.030 and in order to find that the new access road or 
driveway complies with the spacing standards in Table 6-3, and, given the high volume 
of traffic on Tower Road and the large number of existing access and driveways on 
Tower Road, the following two conditions are proposed below and also included in the 
Conditions of Approval. 

A) Access to proposed parcel 1 will be the existing access/roadway easement
located along the eastern boundary of proposed parcel 2 beginning on the
north side of Kunze Lane and extending north where it intersects with tax

31



lot 122 and then continuing to the western boundary of proposed parcel 1.   
As part of this access, the applicant will dedicate an additional 20 feet to the 
existing 40-foot access/roadway easement, conforming to the 60-foot 
minimum roadway standard.  Additionally, a turnaround at the western 
terminus will be dedicated on the final plat to allow for emergency vehicle 
access and turnaround.  Specific turnaround design standards will comply 
with the recommendations of the Boardman Fire District. 

B) Obtain access to proposed parcel 2 and proposed parcel 3 to Kunze Lane.
An access permit from County Public Works will be required before signing
final plat.

3. All required public service and facilities are available and adequate.

Finding: Electricity and telephone services are available in the area; the Applicant will be
responsible for coordinating with local providers for future service. No other public services or
facilities are available.

4. Proposal will not have any identifiable adverse impacts on adjoining or area land uses, public
services and facilities, and natural resource-carrying capacities.

Finding: The proposed parcels are zoned Space Age Industrial (SAI). Future use is yet to be
determined; therefore, no adverse impacts are anticipated to be considered for this land
partition application.   Although no specific future use is identified, it is presumed that the new
development will include a new on-site well and septic system.

This property is in an area designated for water quality concerns by the Oregon Department of
Environmental Quality. Specifically, the subject property is in the Lower Umatilla Basin
Groundwater Management Area (LUBGWMA). The Department of Environmental Quality
designated the LUBGWMA in 1990 due to elevated nitrate concentrations in groundwater. It is
recommended that wells used for drinking water be tested at least bi-annually to determine
nitrate concentrations and to notify persons drinking the water about public health impacts.

Each of the proposed parcels are large and would appear to have adequate area for an on-site
well and septic system.  Specific permitting for on-site septic can be deferred to the
development review process when more precise septic system demands can be evaluated.

Notice will be provided to the owners of property adjacent to the exterior boundaries of the
existing parcel, as well as to the Oregon DEQ, who may provide additional comment.

5. An approved water rights diversion plan as applicable.

Finding: Preliminary Findings of Fact will be referred to the Regional Watermaster and the West
Extension Irrigation District (WEID) for review and comment. As a condition of approval, it is
recommended that the applicant comply with any recommendations of the Watermaster
relative to water rights allocation amongst the three parcels.

32



Based on the most recent GIS shapefile from the West Extension Irrigation District (WEID) a very 
small area of proposed parcel 3 is within the WEID boundaries.   The terminus of the WEID canal 
ends at the abutting property to the east.   WEID provided comments noting that there is a 
federal ditch on the property and an undefined federal Bureau of Reclamation easement.  It is 
recommended that the applicant comply with recommendations of the WEID.  

6. Flag lots will not be permitted when the results would be to increase the number of properties
requiring direct and individual access from a State Highway or other arterial. Flag lots may be
permitted to achieve planning objectives under the following conditions:
a. When flag lot driveways are separated by at least twice the minimum frontage

distance.
b. The driveway must meet driveway standards described in Article 8, Section 8.020.V.
c. The lot meets the minimum lot area of the zoning district, without including the

driveway.
d. Only one flag lot shall be permitted per private right-of-way or access easement.

Finding: This provision does not apply as no flag lots are proposed. 

7. The depth of any lot will not be restricted as long as a buildable parcel is proposed.

Finding: The applicant has proposed three new parcels in the Space Age Industrial Zone (SAI
zone), which has no minimum dimension (parcel size) requirements. The proposed parcels are
adequate in size to accommodate the allowed uses in the SAI zone.

8. An application for partitioning will be denied when it can be shown that the partitioning is
part of a plan or scheme to create more than three (3) parcels without going through
subdivision or is part of a development pattern creating more than three (3) parcels without
subdividing. If the Planning Director determines that the proposed partition constitutes series
partitioning, or if series partitioning has occurred in the past, then the Planning Director may
require the application be subject to the requirements for a subdivision or Planned Unit
Development.

Finding:   The most recent land partition was in 2014.  See Partition Plat 2014-5.  The Loves
Truck Stop parcel was partitioned from the larger parcel in 2012.  See Partition Plat 2012-13.
The applicant is not proposing further land partitioning at this time; however, approval of this
partition would not preclude further partitioning.  The county could require this partition to
meet subdivision standards, however, that is not recommended at this time.  One of the primary
differences between subdivision standards and partitioning standards is the requirement to
construct and develop roadways. See Article 9 Improvements and Article 9 Section 9.010
Improvement Procedures for Subdivisions.  See also TSP Appendix A Roadway Standards
(attached).

33



The applicant has requested that the county not require improvements at this time.   As a 
condition of approval, it is recommended that further partitioning comply with the subdivision 
review process and standards in Article 9.  Additionally, a condition of approval is recommended 
to require the access easement to parcel 1 be constructed to a minimum Rural Access II 
standard prior to development on Parcel 1.  This is noted below as a subsequent condition of 
approval.   If parcel 2 is further partitioned the roadway standard for the 60-foot easement will 
change and improvements may need to be changed to a higher volume standard.   

9. In addition to the requirements set forth above, the following factors may be considered for
approval or disapproval of an application for land partitioning if a geographical or other factor
identified by other, appropriate professionals or plans such as the requirements of the
Comprehensive Plan, FEMA requirements, Byways rules, etc., requires it:

a. Placement and availability of utilities.
b. Safety from fire, flood and other natural hazards.
c. The same improvements may be required for a partitioning as required of a

subdivision, if required it will be installed by the applicant.
d. Possible effects on natural, scenic and historical resources.
e. Need for onsite or offsite improvements.
f. Need for additional setback, screening, landscaping and other requirements relative

to the protection of adjoining and area land uses.  If the proposed partition is located
within an Urban Growth Boundary, the affected city must be given notice according to
the respective Joint Management agreement.

g. In the approval of a land partition, the need for street and other improvements will be
considered and may be required as a Condition of Approval at a different standard
than for a subdivision.

Finding: The proposed parcels are not within the Flood Overlay Zone and are within the
Boardman Rural Fire Protection District.   Part of the property is located within the
Airport Safety and Compatibility (ASC) Zone which is intended to protect and support
the continued operation of the Boardman public use airport by establishing
compatibility and safety standards and to reduce potential safety hazards for persons
living, working or recreating near that airport.   The proposed parcel configuration does
not appear to conflict with airport operation safety and functionality.  Compliance with
ASC Zone will be required as part of future development approval.

MORROW COUNTY SUBDIVISION ORDINANCE ARTICLE 5 LAND PARTITIONS SECTION 5.075. 
REPLATTING.   A reconfiguration of a recorded subdivision or partition plat or a change in the 
number of lots in the subdivision or partition may be approved by the Planning Commission or 
as defined in ORS 92.180.  Replats will act to vacate the platted lots or parcels and easements 
within the replat area with the following conditions: 

1. A replat will apply only to a recorded plat.

34



Finding:  A replat is required as the applicant is proposing to reconfigure Parcel 1 of 
Partition Plat 2014-5. 

2. Notice shall be provided when the replat is replatting all of an undeveloped subdivision as
defined in ORS 92.225.
Finding:  This provision does not apply as this is not a replat of an undeveloped
subdivision. Rather, this is a replat of a Partition Plat.  However, notice was provided under
the requirements of the Morrow County Subdivision Ordinance.

3. Notice shall be provided to the owners of property adjacent to the exterior boundaries of
the tentative subdivision replat.
Finding:  Notice has been provided to adjoining property owners and affected agencies.

4. When a utility easement is proposed to be realigned, reduced in width or omitted by a
replat, all affected utility companies or public agencies shall be notified, consistent with a
governing body’s notice to owners of property contiguous to the proposed plat. Any utility
company that desires to maintain an easement subject to vacation under this section
must notify the Planning Department in writing within 14 days of the mailing or other
service of the notice.
Finding:  No changes to utility easements are proposed.  This replat is at the request of
the landowner.

5. A replat will not serve to vacate any public street or road.

Finding: No streets or roads are proposed to be vacated.

6. A replat will comply with all subdivision provisions of this Article and all applicable
Ordinances.
Finding:  This requirement is met as the parcels were subject to the provisions of this
Article with both the previous partition and this proposal. The applicant will need to submit
both a preliminary and final partition plat to comply with this Article and ORS Chapter 92.
This is recommended and listed as a Condition of Approval.

IV. AGENCIES NOTIFIED: Greg Silbernagel, Watermaster; Mike Gorman, Morrow County Assessor; Steve
Freeland, Emergency Management; Eric Imes and Rory Rowlette, Morrow County Public Works;
Matt Kenny, Morrow County Surveyor; Mike Hughes, Boardman RFPD; Mike Hiatt, Oregon
Department of Environmental Quality; Oregon DEQ Eastern Region Office; Teresa Penninger, Oregon
Department of Transportation; Chris Kowitz, Oregon Water Resources Department; Greg
Silbernagel, Oregon Water Resources Department; Bev Bridgewater, West Extension Irrigation
District; Brian Hammond, City of Boardman; Brian Snyder, Umatilla County Undersheriff; Lisa

35



Mittelsdorf and Jacob Cain, Port of Morrow, Sean Kimbrel, U.S. Bureau of Reclamation, Hermiston 
Field Office. 

V. PROPERTY OWNERS NOTIFIED: January 8, 2025 

VI. PLANNING COMMISSION DECISION: This application may be approved subject to the following
Precedent Conditions of Approval. These conditions must be completed before the Planning
Director may sign the final partition plat and before the land may be deeded to a third party.

1. Submit a final partition plat in compliance with Article 5 of the Morrow County Subdivision
Ordinance and ORS Chapter 92.

2. Show existing and proposed easements on the Final Partition Plat, including the dedication of 20
feet to the existing public 40 feet access/roadway easement from Kunze Road on the south,
northerly along the eastern boundary of proposed parcel #2, and then westerly to the west
boundary of proposed parcel #1.  The final plat shall also include an emergency access
turnaround at the west terminus of the 60-foot access/roadway easement to parcel #1.

3. Improve the roadway easement to comply with Section 6 of the Morrow County Transportation
System Plan.   Road improvement may be deferred as a subsequent condition of approval which
would require the road be built prior to development.

4. Obtain an Access Permit from Morrow County Public Works, for new driveway or roadway to
Kunze Road for proposed parcels #2 and #3.

5. Obtain preliminary septic suitability from Umatilla County Environmental Health for proposed
parcel #1.  Note:  this may be deferred if future development is identified, and septic will not be
required for the development on that parcel.

6. File appropriate documents to confirm water rights allocation, consistent with
recommendations of the watermaster.

7. Comply with recommendations of the West Extension Irrigation District.

8. Comply with recommendations of the U.S. Bureau of Reclamation regarding the federal right of
way on the property.

9. Comply with recommendations of the Oregon Department of Aviation, if any are recommended
for this partition application.

36



Subsequent Conditions of Approval.  These conditions apply after the Final Partition and Replat have 
been approved and prior to development.  

1. Construct a roadway on the public 60-foot easement to parcel 1 before development. Minimum
roadway standard shall be Rural Access 1 (illustrated in the Morrow County TSP Appendix A
Roadway Standards).  The public roadway will not be the responsibility of the county to maintain.
As part of the future development review process, the county will require a road maintenance
agreement.

2. Further partitioning of parcels may be subject to subdivision standards and processes.

Stacie Ekstrom, Chair  
Morrow County Planning Commission 

ATTACHMENTS: 
Vicinity Map 
Detail Map  
Preliminary Plat Map 
Tower Road Access Map 
MCSO Article 9 
Roadway Standards 
Application forms (2) 
Letters from agencies and others 

37



Exhibit D.238



CO
RR

EC
TE

D
O

W
N

ER
 1

O
W

N
ER

 2
M

AI
L 

AD
DR

ES
S

CI
TY

ST
AT

E
ZI

PC
O

DE
4N

24
E 

56
00

U
SA

 (B
O

M
BI

N
G

 R
AN

G
E)

0
4N

24
E1

4 
20

0
PH

IL
LI

PS
, T

IM
22

60
 V

O
LP

P  
ST

W
ES

T 
LI

N
N

   
   

   
 

O
R 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
97

06
8

4N
24

E 
13

5
CS

S 
PO

TA
TO

 F
AR

M
S,

 L
LC

59
11

 2
N

D 
AV

E  
W

KE
AR

N
EY

N
E 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
68

84
7

4N
24

E2
3 

50
1

DO
HE

RT
Y,

 B
RY

CE
 E

T 
AL

67
99

0 
KU

N
ZE

 L
N

BO
AR

DM
AN

O
R 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
97

81
8

4N
24

E2
3 

50
0

DO
HE

RT
Y,

 B
RY

CE
 E

T 
AL

67
99

0 
KU

N
ZE

 L
N

BO
AR

DM
AN

O
R 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
97

81
8

4N
24

E2
3 

40
2

DO
HE

RT
Y,

 JA
M

ES
 E

 &
 D

O
HE

RT
Y,

 K
EL

LY
 L

   
  

68
81

2 
W

 W
IL

SO
N

 L
N

BO
AR

DM
AN

O
R 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
97

81
8

4N
24

E2
3 

40
1

DO
HE

RT
Y,

 JA
M

ES
 E

 &
 D

O
HE

RT
Y,

 K
EL

LY
 L

   
  

68
81

2 
W

 W
IL

SO
N

 L
N

BO
AR

DM
AN

O
R 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
97

81
8

4N
24

E 
12

1
TH

RE
EM

IL
E 

CA
N

YO
N

 F
AR

M
S,

 L
LC

   
   

   
   

 
75

90
6 

TH
RE

E M
IL

E 
RD

BO
AR

DM
AN

O
R 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
97

81
8

4N
24

E 
11

7
TH

RE
EM

IL
E 

CA
N

YO
N

 F
AR

M
S,

 L
LC

   
   

   
   

 
75

90
6 

TH
RE

EM
IL

E 
RD

BO
AR

DM
AN

O
R 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
97

81
8

4N
24

E 
12

2
U

M
AT

IL
LA

 E
LE

CT
RI

C 
CO

-O
P

PO
 B

O
X 

11
48

HE
RM

IS
TO

N
O

R 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

97
83

8
4N

24
E 

12
3

PO
RT

 O
F 

M
O

RR
O

W
PO

 B
O

X  
20

0
BO

AR
DM

AN
O

R 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

97
81

8
4N

24
E 

11
0

PO
RT

 O
F 

M
O

RR
O

W
PO

 B
O

X 
20

0
BO

AR
DM

AN
O

R 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

97
81

8
4N

24
E 

13
4

CI
TY

 O
F 

BO
AR

DM
AN

PO
 B

O
X 

22
9

BO
AR

DM
AN

O
R 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
97

81
8

4N
24

E2
3 

90
1

FR
AN

K 
TI

EG
S,

 L
LC

PO
 B

O
X  

31
10

PA
SC

O
W

A 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

99
30

2
4N

24
E 

13
1

AN
DE

RS
O

N
, N

AN
CY

PO
 B

O
X 

34
CH

EH
AL

IS
W

A 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

98
53

2
4N

24
E 

13
2

FA
RM

LA
N

D 
RE

SE
RV

E,
 IN

C
PO

 B
O

X 
51

11
96

SA
LT

 L
AK

E 
CI

TY
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

U
T 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
84

15
1

4N
24

E 
13

3
LO

VE
'S

 T
RA

VE
L 

ST
O

PS
 &

 C
O

U
N

TR
Y 

ST
O

RE
S 

IN
C

PO
 B

O
X 

52
56

O
AK

 B
RO

O
K

IL
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

60
52

2
4N

24
E1

4 
20

4
KR

EB
S 

LI
VE

ST
O

CK
, L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
54

EN
TE

RP
RI

SE
   

   
   

  
O

R 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

97
82

8
4N

24
E 

11
3

TR
U

E 
O

RG
AN

IC
 P

RO
DU

CT
S,

 L
LC

   
   

   
   

  
PO

 B
O

X 
71

92
SP

RE
CK

LE
S

CA
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

93
96

2
4N

24
E 

13
6

AM
AZ

O
N

 D
AT

A 
SE

RV
IC

ES
, I

N
C

PO
 B

O
X 

80
41

6
SE

AT
TL

E
W

A
98

10
8

LP
-N

-5
29

-2
4|

Ci
ty

 o
f B

oa
rd

m
an

|S
AI

 50
0f

t.
no

tic
e.

4N
24

E 
TL

13
4.

S:
\P

la
nn

in
g\

LU
D\

So
ut

h\
20

24

Exhibit D.339



Exhibit D.440



•
•

an
de

rs
on

pe
rr
y

SC
AL

E:
 1

 IN
C

H
 =

 6
00

 F
EE

T
4
9
5
9
3
P
L
S

RE
N

EW
AL

 D
AT

E:
 0

6/
30

/2
02

6

RE
G

IS
TE

RE
D

PR
O

FE
SS

IO
N

A
L

LA
N

D
 S

U
R
V
EY

O
R

O
R
E
G

O
N

FE
BR

U
AR

Y 
8,

 2
00

0
R
IC

H
A
R
D

 E
. 

S
T
E
IN

P
A

R
T

IT
IO

N
 P

LA
T

 2
0

2
4

- _
__

_

SC
AL

E:
 1

 IN
C

H
 =

 1
00

 F
EE

T

SC
AL

E:
 1

 IN
C

H
 =

 1
00

 F
EE

T

SC
AL

E:
 1

 IN
C

H
 =

 1
00

 F
EE

T

Exhibit  D.541



•
•

an
de

rs
on

pe
rr
y

4
9
5
9
3
P
L
S

RE
N

EW
AL

 D
AT

E:
 0

6/
30

/2
02

6

RE
G

IS
TE

RE
D

PR
O

FE
SS

IO
N

A
L

LA
N

D
 S

U
R
V
EY

O
R

O
R
E
G

O
N

FE
BR

U
AR

Y 
8,

 2
00

0
R
IC

H
A
R
D

 E
. 

S
T
E
IN

P
A

R
T

IT
IO

N
 P

LA
T

 2
0

2
4

-_
__

42



Exhibit D.6

43



Exhibit D.7

44



Exhibit D.845



46



47



48



49



50



51



Exhibit D.952



53



54



55



Exhibit D.10
56



Exhibit D.11
57



Exhibit
E58



Exhibit
F

59

hwyr50t
Polygon

hwyr50t
Polygon

hwyr50t
Callout
ODOT ROW to station 110+71.02.Red is limit of Access Control to station 104+40.

hwyr50t
Typewritten Text
110+71.02

hwyr50t
Polygon

hwyr50t
Callout
connect easement to county right of way

hwyr50t
Highlight

hwyr50t
Highlight

hwyr50t
Highlight



Exhibit
G60



Exhibit 
H

61



Exhibit I

62



Exhibit J
63



Exhibit K 

Please find my comments on the land partition request LP N 529 -24/ R-N-88-24. 

At stake in this application is the degradation of our rural community, its roads, its rural 
nature and our way of life. The proposed RV Park will not be compatible with adjacent EFU 
uses nor does it align with Morrow Counties Comprehensive Plan. This is an urban scale 
development in a rural resource area. There are no public services for miles, no safe 
walking or bike paths and access could be on the most dangerous road in Morrow County, 
putting families and housing next to a interstate truck stop is not a wise approach to 
healthy communities.   

 I fully understand that this application is only the first step in the process and recognize the 
transparency of the City identifying some of its intended uses, in fact I was at the meeting 
for this very proposal. Its proposed uses are not in conformity with the Space Age Industrial 
Zoning. Similar partitions and rezones by the applicant have resulted in economic losses to 
Boardman proper and compromise the intend use of the SAI zone.  

 Loves faces water challenges; the sodium is near the100 ppm mark, and the port wells are 
similar.  Shallower wells face nitrate levels well beyond the federal limits, four times the 
safe levels. Other partitions from the parent parcel have had numerous failed septic 
approvals and currently have porta potties out for restrooms for the fifteen workers and no 
potable water on site.  

Potato waste contaminated with pesticides and chemicals are currently being dumped on 
the nearby created partitioned lands. Onion skin litters the road sides and create an irritant 
that burns the eyes and nose.  As an adjacent landowner I am concerned the City is 
creating a subdivision of lands with no continuity, and each will adversely affect the other. 
High density urban scale developments have no place in rural areas.  

I added these, they were not provided by staff, but I feel that both articles are extremely 
important to this application. 

ARTICLE1 SECTION 1.010  INTRODUCTORY PROVISIONS 

ORS Chapters 92 and 215 and this ordinance sets forth the minimum standards governing 
the approval of land development, including subdivision and partitioning, as necessary to 
carry out the County Comprehensive Plan and to promote the public health, safety and 
general welfare. The purpose of these provisions and regulations are to: 

64



A. Encourage well-planned subdivision and partition development to the end that
good livable neighborhoods with all needed amenities and community facilities may
be created.

B. Encourage development in harmony with the natural environment and within
resource carrying capacities.

C. Safeguard the interest of the public, the applicant and the future lot owner.

D. Improve land records and boundary monumentation.

E. Ensure equitable processing of subdivision and partitioning plans, and
accomplish to the greatest extent possible the goals and objectives of the 
Comprehensive Plan for Morrow County. 

F. Provide for orderly and efficient urban development, and to coordinate
development with public facilities and service plans and capabilities. 

G. Provide for preservation of farm and forest lands, and the resource-based
economy of the County. 

Applicant fails to meet the minimum standards of 1.010 

SECTION 1.020. INTERPRETATION. 

The provisions of this ordinance shall be construed to effect the purposes set forth in 
Section 1.010 of this ordinance. These Morrow County Subdivision Ordinance (12-20-2022) 
Page 3 of 64 provisions are declared to be the minimum requirements fulfilling such 
objectives, and the county may impose additional requirements deemed necessary to 
promote the health, safety and general welfare, and to carry out the Comprehensive Plan of 
the area. 

 Where conditions set forth herein are less restrictive than comparative condition imposed 
by any other provision of this ordinance, by provisions of any other local ordinance, 
resolution or regulation, or by provisions of state statute or administrative regulation, the 
more restrictive shall govern. S 

This gives you latitude to impose conditions that adhere to the purpose of the general 
provisions above.  

65



FINDINGS OF FACT 

SECTION 5.020. APPLICATION PROCEDURES AND REQUIREMENTS. Any persons 
proposing a land partitioning, or his authorized agent or representative, will prepare and 
submit a copy of the Tentative Plan for the proposed partitioning together with an 
application for partitioning and the appropriate filing fee to the Planning Department in 
accordance with Administrative Provisions set forth in the Morrow County Zoning 
Ordinance, except as set forth in this Article. The Tentative Plan for partitioning, when 
submitted, will include the following: 

1. A vicinity map locating the proposed partitioning in relation to adjacent subdivisions,
roadways and adjoining land use and ownership patterns.

2. A plan of the proposed partition showing tract boundaries and dimensions, the area of
each tract or parcel and the names, right-of-way widths, and improvement standards of
existing roads.

3. Names and addresses of the landowner, the partitioner, a mortgagee if applicable, and
the land surveyor employed or to be employed to make necessary surveys and prepare the
Final Plat.

4. A statement regarding contemplated water supply, sewage disposal, solid waste
disposal, fire protection, access, etc.

5. North point, scale and date of map, and property by tax lot, section, township and range.

6. Statement regarding the current use of the property and the purpose for which the
parcels may be used in the future.

7. Title or Subdivision Guarantee Report from a licensed title company stating the record
owner(s) of the land proposed to be subdivided and setting forth all encumbrances relative
to the subject property. The report shall have been issued within the 60 days previous to the
submittal for approval. The Preliminary Plat may reveal the boundaries of the property to be
other than thought to be correct by the landowner. An applicant is encouraged to have a
Boundary Survey performed prior to submittal of the application and tentative plan.

(4) The applicant failed to meet requirements 4,6 and 7 in the application process. Water
supply, sewage, and access on application states TBA and unknown. That is not a
qualifying or contemplated statement that would satisfy the requirement. Nothing about
fire protection or solid waste. This subverts the whole idea behind the application

66



requirement and the justification as to the completion of the application. Checking a box 
should not be accepted. Application should not have been deemed complete. 

(6) The current use is satisfied; the applicant omits the future use. The future uses have
been identified in public meetings which I attended and is additionally supplied by the
County planner in the background information.  The intended use of parcel one is a
substation and parcel 2 is a RV Park and #3 is unidentified. The applicant should have
supplied that information in the application

7. I do not see that any of the required documents are supplied in the application

SECTION 5.030. REQUIREMENTS FOR APPROVAL. 

No application for partitioning will be approved unless the following requirements are met 
Morrow County Subdivision Ordinance (12-20-2022) Page 27 of 64 

1. Proposal follows ORS 92 and the County and affected City Comprehensive Plans and
applicable Zoning.

2. Each parcel is suited for the use intended or offered; including, but not limited to, size of
the parcels, topography, sewage disposal approval and guaranteed access. Proof of access
must show that each parcel has an easement sufficient for continued ingress and egress to
a public, county or state highway or has a deeded access way.

3. All required public service, and facilities are available and adequate.

4. Proposal will not have any identifiable adverse impacts on adjoining or area land uses,
public services and facilities, and natural resource carrying capacities.

5. An approved water rights diversion plan as applicable.

6. Flag lots will not be permitted when the results would be to increase the number of
properties requiring direct and individual access from a State Highway or other arterial.
Flag lots may be permitted to achieve planning objectives under the following conditions:
a. When flag lot driveways are separated by at least twice the minimum frontage distance.
b. The driveway must meet driveway standards described in Article 8, Section 8.020.V. c.
The lot meets the minimum lot area of the zoning district, without including the driveway. d.
Only one flag lot will be permitted per private right-of-way or access easement.

7. The depth of any lot will not be restricted as long as a buildable parcel is proposed.

67



8. An application for partitioning will be denied when it can be shown that the partitioning
is part of a plan or scheme to create more than three (3) parcels without going through
subdivision or is part of a development pattern creating more than three (3) parcels without
subdividing. If the Planning Director determines that the proposed partition constitutes
serial partitioning, or if serial partitioning has occurred in the past, then the Planning
Director may require the application be subject to the requirements for a subdivision or
Planned Unit Development.

9. In addition to the requirements set forth above, the following factors may be considered
for approval or disapproval of an application for land partitioning if a geographical or other
factor identified by other, appropriate professionals or Plans such as the requirements of
the Comprehensive Plan, FEMA requirements, Byways rules, etc., requires it: a. Placement
and availability of utilities. b. Safety from fire, flood and other natural hazards. Morrow
County Subdivision Ordinance (12-20-2022) Page 28 of 64 c. The same improvements may
be required for a partitioning as required of a subdivision, if required it will be installed by
the applicant. d. Possible effects on natural, scenic and historical resources. e. Need for
onsite or offsite improvements. f. Need for additional setbacks, screening, landscaping and
other requirements relative to the protection of adjoining and area land uses. If the
proposed partition is located within an Urban Growth Boundary, the affected city must be
given notice according to the respective Joint Management Agreement. g. In the approval of
a land partition, the need for street and other improvements will be considered and may be
required as a Condition of Approval at a different standard than for a subdivision.

 1.The findings of fact indicate that the only criteria to meet the Comprehensive Goals of 
the County and City would be to submit a final partition plat. The applicant fails to address 
any Comprehensive plan goals. The burden of proof lies upon the applicant to provide 
compliance with Goals 1– 14 of the County. It also fails to address  Boardman’s Comp plan 
as well. 

 Additionally, how does it comply with SAI Zoning? Where does the applicant support the 
finding  that the partition would be suitable for SAI development? Parcel size is not a 
requirement. However, 3.072 SAI ZONE states; it is intended to recognize those areas 
devoted to, or most suitable for, space age technology research and development. The 
applicant has not hidden the fact that the intended use is not SAI related. Facts are facts. 
We all can appreciate their candid approach to this application and its intended use. 

68



However, it fails to meet the standards of the zone, therefore I request the planning 
commission to deny the partition.  

2. The intended use has nothing to do with the SAI zone, to say the parcel is suited for the
intended use is misleading and meaningless.  Access has not been guaranteed nor
identified. Sewage disposal sites cannot be assured on parcel size alone. A larger parcel,
14 acres that was created from the same parent parcel has been denied septic by the DEQ.
Parcel size is not indicative to onsite sewage systems. Other factors need to be considered,
like the very shallow basalt layer. Ingress and egress has not be sufficiently pledged to the
parcels and though identified in the conditions still does not identify a legal access or
easements. Discussions and proposals do not satisfy the requirement of legal access.

3. The only identified public services are electrical and phone. No other services identified.
It is extremely concerning that water and sewer are left unknown. That hardly meets the
requirement that all services be available or adequate. Its not only in a critical ground water
area, but it is also a known area of high nitrates. Adjoining landowners have contaminated
wells at levels well above Federal standards. Local surface waters have also been
identified above save drinking water limits.

 Adjoining lots have been denied sub ground septic, furthermore many City Council 
members have expressed their concern over septic contamination of the ground water. A 
high-density urban use such as this, would likely have negative affects and increase 
contamination levels. The recent statewide DEQ analysis lists land use as the largest 
contributor to the problem. That is why it is very important for this body to consider water 
and wastewater in all unincorporated areas. This application fails to meet even the bare 
minimum of public services. Please deny the application and protect our rural lands from 
urban sprawl and groundwater contamination.  

4. The proposal or intended use has been identified, to believe otherwise is naïve. The
application deliberately subverts any responsibility to the planning process. Planning
commissions rely on information to make informed judgements. There will be adverse
impacts to the entire area. You cannot believe otherwise. The entire process banties
around uniform zoning …Zone boundaries are not clear lines in the sand, they spill over into
adjacent zones.

Farming practices require low level population densities. Our animals require peaceful 
environments to thrive. Farming creates adverse effects on urban scale uses, that is why 
our planners designed zones to minimize the effects each zone will have on the adjacent. 
The applicant states a rezone will occur. The urban scale use has been identified as an RV 
park. I assume that the size of the parcel will determine the density. Twelve acres will 

69



accommodate 100s if not more spaces. Dogs will surely be part of the population mix, 
untrained urban dogs and livestock do not mix. A WEID canal exists on parcel three, it is an 
open ditch adjacent landowners rely on to irrigate. Children and dogs will be drawn to the 
canal posing dangerous risks.  There are risks associated with chemical drift and fertilizers. 
Loves supports thousands of trucks that will pose risks of abduction and safety for families 
and especially vulnerable children. This is not Boardman Marina Park; this is an active area 
of farm trucks and hazards. This partition is far more than the simple  construct of the three 
parcels. We know the intended use. Uses of this nature will drain our limited aquifers and 
resource capacities. Public facilities are not only limited they do not exist. 

5. I don’t see where the applicant has made an attempt to identify the water rights, nor any
diversion plan. WEID and the water master should approve the plan before the action, as it
is applicable to the partition. Doing so after or with a condition of approval is not the intent
of the approval criteria. It is to be met before approval.

6. Not sure what a flag lot is, so skipping this.

7. N/A we know there are no SAI uses proposed; how then do we assume the project build
will accommodate the parcel size. The SAI zone was designed to be very limiting and
narrow. Taking into account the nature of space age industry that requires secrecy and
security the parcel size is no indicator that the project will fit the space.

8. The parent parcel lot 134 has been partitioned three times prior to this partition.  The
CSS property, UEC property and Loves property have all been carved out separately. The
development pattern is clear. Partition, then partition repeatedly. These serial partitions
should not be considered partitions but deserve subdivision standards and development
code considerations. The owner’s historic development has demonstrated the need for
subdivision standards. As stated before, the patterns of development are creating no
conformity within the area and without subdivision standards being placed on this parcel
review it will continually get worse. The development patterns are concerns for land use
incompatibility. Please stop the serial partitions and apply the correct standards that
should apply to any large parcel that shows a history of serial partitions. Deny the partition
and have the applicant resubmit a subdivision application.

I have presented several reasons for denial of the partition as it fails to meet even the 
minimal criteria for the application let alone the partition requirements. The CSS property 
is an example of why water and sewer needs are required criteria, why subdivision 
development standards should be applied and that the identified conditions of approval  
are in fact criteria for approval that have not been met. CSS operates the potato processing 
facility that was created from lot134 It  now has an office and 15 employees. No longer just 

70



a storage facility, it now processes seed potatoes and dumps its waste adjacent to the 
created parcels.   No potable water is on site and no septic was approved for 3 years while 
in operation.  

In addition, we have a deeded easement on the south proposed parcel. Nothing has been 
mentioned on that easement. Road width, development standards ect. Or how it may 
affect the parcel use. 

71



Exhibit K.1

72



Exhibit K.2
73



Exhibit K.3

74



Exhibit L75



76



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

77



PRELIMINARY FINDINGS OF FACT 
CONDITIONAL USE REQUEST 

CUP-N-378-24 
 
REQUEST:  To allow a Home Occupation Permit in a Suburban Residential (SR) Zone for the 

operation of a small commercial trucking business.  
 
 
 
APPLICANT/OWNER:  Victor Calvillo 
     70126 Ridgecrest Drive, 
     Boardman, OR 97818 
 
PROPERTY DESCRIPTION:  Tax Lot 5800 of Assessor’s Map 4N25E20A  
 
PROPERTY LOCATION:  ± 1300 feet south of Kunze Lane, within the Boardman 

Urban Growth Boundary (UGB) on Ridgecrest Drive, within 
the West Glen Subdivision.  

 
 

I. BACKGROUND INFORMATION: The subject site is approximately 1.08 acres and is 
located within the Suburban Residential (SR) zone and the City of Boardman UGB. This 
Conditional Use Permit application requests a Home Occupation Permit to allow the 
applicant to operate and park three ten-wheeler commercial trucks and two commercial 
units on the property. The applicant has been operating commercial trucks on the site for 
some time and submitted the CUP application in response to code enforcement actions. 
The applicant is one of more than a dozen commercial truck operators currently utilizing 
residential property within the West Glen Residential Area (SR zoning) without the 
appropriate land use approvals. The approval of this CUP will serve to rectify 
outstanding code violations while providing specific parameters for the operation of the 
existing business.        
 
Because the subject property is located within the Boardman UGB, there are direct 
concerns with the use being compatible with city zoning designations in the event of 
future annexation. Access to the site requires the use of less than a quarter of a mile of 
substandard public roads that are not currently maintained or subject to a maintenance 
or usage agreement.  
 
MCZO Section 3.050.C.2 Limitations on Uses allows a landowner “to use a truck or 
tractor unit as personal transportation to the resident parcel.  No more than one (1) truck 
or tractor unit is allowed per parcel.”  Applicant is proposing to have five commercial 
vehicles to be parked on his property and operated seasonally.   

 
 

II. STAFF RECOMMENDATION: The county has initiated a neighborhood-based 
code compliance effort to address growing concerns regarding unregulated commercial 
trucking operations and impacts to public roads in West Glen as well as other affected 
neighborhoods throughout the county. Staff understand that this effort puts property  
owners such as the Calvillo’s in a difficult situation, as they have been operating their 
business on their residential property for many years for agricultural purposes. Staff is 
neither recommending the approval or denial of this CUP.  

78



 
III. COMPLIANCE WITH MORROW COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE SECTIONS 3.050, 

6.030, 6.050, and 6.075. The requirements for approval are listed below in bold type, 
followed by a response in standard type. 

 
SECTION 3.050 SUBURBAN RESIDENTIAL ZONE, SR 
 
The SR Zone accommodates small lot development and transition to urban type 
densities and uses within an urban growth boundary. In an SR Zone, the following 
regulations shall apply:  
 
C. Conditional Uses Permitted. In an SR Zone, the following uses and their 

accessory uses are permitted when authorized in accordance with the 
requirements set forth in Article 6.  

  
5. Home occupations conducted in a structure accessory to the 

dwelling, provided that all other limitations of home occupations are 
observed. 

 
Finding: The applicant proposes parking the three ten-wheelers and two commercial units 

along the southern end of the parcel where they will be minimally visible from the 
road and/or adjacent residences.   

 
SECTION 6.030 GENERAL CONDITIONS.  
 
In addition to the standards and conditions set forth in a specific zone, this article, 
and other applicable regulations; in permitting a new conditional use or the 
alteration of an existing conditional use, the Commission may impose conditions 
which it finds necessary to avoid a detrimental impact and to otherwise protect 
the best interests of the surrounding area or the County as a whole. These 
conditions may include the following: 
 
A. Limiting the manner in which the use is conducted including restricting the 

time an activity may take place and restraints to minimize such 
environmental effects as noise, vibration, air pollution, glare, and odor. 
 

Finding: The proposed use shall be operated in a way that will not intentionally disturb 
neighboring residences. The Calvillos’ have operated commercial trucks on the 
subject property for several years with few specific concerns directly related to 
their existing operation. Nonetheless, the county has received general complaints 
related to the operation of commercial trucks in the vicinity of the subject site. 
The proposed home occupation has the potential to generate some noise and 
traffic. The recommended conditions of approval attempt to mitigate anticipated 
and expressed concerns. The applicant did not provide specific details on 
operation times or activity taking place onsite. However, similar operations have 
indicated that operations start at approximately 6-7 AM 

  and return approximately between 5:00PM and 6:00PM. Previous Planning  
  Commission approvals have included a 6:00AM to 6:00PM window for operation, 

this has also been included as a Condition of Approval for this application. Any 
minor maintenance, such as tire and oil changes, must be conducted during 
hours that comply with the noise standards outlined in the Morrow County Code 

79



Enforcement Ordinance. No major mechanical operations on commercial 
vehicles are to be conducted on the property.  

 
Any complaints received of operations outside of these hours may result in a 
review of the activity and potential revocation of the permit. 

 
B. Establishing a special yard or other open space or lot area or dimension. 
 

Finding: This proposed use will use existing lot area. Planning staff do not recommend 
any additional requirements for open space. 
 

C. Limiting the height, size, or location of a building or other structure. 
 

Finding: This application does not include the approval of new buildings or accessory 
structures. Staff do not recommend any additional limitations on the height, size, 
or location of the structures. 
 

D. Designating the size, number, location, and nature of vehicle access 
points. 
1. Where access to a county road is needed, a permit from the Morrow 

County Public Works department is required. Where access to a 
state highway is needed, a permit from ODOT is required. 
 

Finding: The existing legal access to the site is from Ridgecrest Lane. This road is a 
dedicated public roadway not maintained by the county. Applicant is applying 
with the intent to use two access points to the parcel. The use of the secondary 
access is located on Parkside Road. It is unpermitted at this time and must be 
discontinued, unless otherwise approved and permitted by Morrow County Public 
Works. Planning staff recommends the applicant obtain all necessary public 
works permits. This is included as a condition of approval below. 

 
2. In addition to the other standards and conditions set forth in this 

section, a TIA will be required for all projects generating more than 
400 passenger car equivalent trips per day. A TIA will include: trips 
generated by the project, trip distribution for the project, 
identification of intersections for which the project adds 30 or more 
peak hour passenger car equivalent trips, and level of service 
assessment, impacts of the project, and mitigation of the impacts. If 
the corridor is a State Highway, use ODOT standards. 
 

Finding:  This action will not trigger the need for a Traffic Impact Analysis as it will not 
generate more than 400 passenger car equivalent trips per day. According to the 
Applicant’s narrative, the trucks enter and exit the property once per day during 
the operational season. The commercial vehicles operate approximately half of 
the year. During the remaining months of the year, these trucks sit dormant on 
the subject parcel. This analysis does not trigger the need for a TIA in and of 
itself. Deviation from the proposed use plan may result in a review of the activity 
and potential revocation of the permit.  

 
 

80



E. Increasing the amount of street dedication, roadway width, or 
improvements within the street right-of-way. 

 
Finding: No increase in street dedication, roadway width, or improvements in the right-of-

way are proposed by the applicant. The streets that will be impacted by the 
proposal consist of substandard Public Roads that are not owned or maintained 
by the County or another entity. These preliminary Findings of Fact have been 
provided to Morrow County Public Works for their review and comment. 
  
1. It is the responsibility of the landowner to provide appropriate access 

for emergency vehicles at the time of development. 
 
Finding: Preliminary Findings of Fact have been provided to Boardman Fire and Rescue 

for their review and comment. 
 

F. Designating the size, location, screening, drainage, surfacing or other 
improvement of a parking area or loading area. 

 
Finding: The subject parcel is located within the West Glen Residential Area. As identified 

on the site plan, the trucks will be parked on the southern corner of the parcel to 
minimize impacts to neighboring properties as well as visibility from the roadway. 
No public comments were received identifying concerns with the application, and 
staff does not recommend additional conditions of approval related to the parking 
of the trucks as proposed.   

 
G. Limiting or otherwise designating the number, size, location, height, and 

lighting of signs. 
 

Finding: The Applicant has not requested signage for the Home Occupation. Any future 
signs must meet the sign requirements in the Morrow County Zoning Ordinance. 
 

H. Limiting the location and intensity of outdoor lighting and requiring its 
shielding. 

 
Finding: Lighting is not proposed with the application. Any outdoor lighting other than 

typical residential lighting shall be limited and shielded from the roadway and 
neighboring residences. 
 

I. Requiring diking, screening, landscaping or another facility to protect 
adjacent or nearby property and designating standards for its installation 
and maintenance. 
 

Finding: The proposed use would not require diking, screening or landscaping to protect 
nearby property. Planning staff are not recommending any of these provisions 
due to the proposed use. 

 
J. Designating the size, height, location and materials for a fence. 
 

Finding: Based on the current and proposed uses planning staff would not require any 
additional conditions related to fencing. 

 

81



 
K. Protecting and preserving existing trees, vegetation, water resources, 

wildlife habitat or other significant natural resources. 
 

Finding: The proposed home occupation will be limited to existing structures and will not 
create any foreseeable natural resource impacts based on the proposed use. 
Planning staff are not recommending additional conditions related to natural 
resources.  

 
L. Other conditions necessary to permit the development of the County in 

conformity with the intent and purpose of this Ordinance and the policies 
of the Comprehensive Plan. 
 

Finding: A copy of the Preliminary Findings of Fact has been provided to the City of 
Boardman for their review and comment. City may recommend additional 
conditions to apply at the time of any future city zoning due to annexation.  

 
 

SECTION 6.050 STANDARDS GOVERNING CONDITIONAL USES 
 

A conditional use shall comply with the standards of the zone in which it is 
located and with the standards set forth in this subsection. 
 
G. Home Occupations, when permitted as a conditional use and conducted as 

an accessory use, shall be subject to the following limitations:  
1. The home occupation is to be secondary to the main use of the 

property as a residence and shall be conducted within the same 
dwelling or in an accessory building on the same property. 

 
Finding: The primary use of the property is residential. The dwelling is the applicants’ 

home, and they will be conducting the home occupation within the existing 
buildings, with truck parking outside of the existing structures, as shown on the 
applicant’s site plan. This criterion is met. 

  
2. No structural alterations shall be allowed to accommodate the home 

occupation except when otherwise required by law, and then only 
after the plans for such alteration have been reviewed and approved 
by the Planning Commission. Such structural alterations shall not 
detract from the outward appearance of the building as an 
accessory structure to a residence.  

 
Finding: No structural alterations are proposed nor will be needed to accommodate the 

home occupation. This criterion is met. 
 

3. One non-illuminated sign not to exceed 200 square inches and 
bearing only the name and occupation of the resident shall be 
permitted. 

 
Finding: No signs are proposed with this application. Any future signs will need to meet 

the requirements of the Morrow County sign ordinance. This criterion is met.  
 

82



4. No materials or mechanical equipment shall be used which will be 
detrimental to the residential use of the property or adjoining 
residences because of vibration, noise, dust, smoke, odor, 
interferences with radio or television reception, or other factors.  
 

Finding:  No materials or mechanical equipment anticipated to be detrimental to adjoining 
properties is needed for the proposed use. This criterion is met. 

  
5. No materials or commodities shall be delivered to or from the 

property which are of such bulk or quantity as to require delivery by 
a commercial vehicle or a trailer or the parking of customer's 
vehicles in a manner or frequency as to cause disturbance or 
inconvenience to nearby residents or so as to necessitate off-street 
parking.  
 

Finding:  Deliveries are not required for the proposed use. The proposal necessitates 
parking for five commercial vehicles on the subject site. Staff recognizes that the 
use has been ongoing for several years and does not anticipate that this will 
contribute to any disturbance to nearby residents. This criterion is met. 

 
 6. Retail sales shall be limited or accessory to a service.  

 
Finding:  Retail sales are not proposed with the application. This criterion is met. 

 
7. Be operated by a resident or employee of a resident of the property 

on which the business is located. 
  

Finding:  The applicant has made known that the commercial operation will be operated by 
himself and persons which he employs. This criterion is met. 

 
 

8. The permit allowing a home occupation shall be reviewed every 12 
months following the date the permit was issued and may continue 
the permit if the home occupation continues to comply with the 
requirements of this section. 

  
Finding:  This permit will be reviewed annually with other home occupation 
  permits as long as the proposed use continues. 

 
SECTION 6.075. LENGTH OF PERMITS, PERMIT HOLDER, RENEWAL AND 
REVOCATION. 
 
A. Length of Permit and Permit Holder: The County may evaluate how long a 

particular conditional use is expected to remain valid. Some conditional 
uses may be considered "permanent" as a fully developed use that "runs 
with the land" and it attaches to and benefits the land and is not limited to a 
particular landowner. The County may require the owner of the original 
conditional use permit to record the permitted use on the deed record.  
The permit is the responsibility of the current owner of the property, 
whether that is the original applicant or a successor. 

 

83



A conditional use permit may allow a use that would benefit the permit 
owner on a sporadic or temporary basis until the purpose for the 
conditional use permit no longer exists. Upon termination of the use, the 
land must be in a condition that it may be re-developed in compliance with 
its current zoning designation. The County may authorize a conditional use 
permit until a particular date, for a stated period of time, or until the 
occurrence of a particular event. Additionally, the County may stipulate 
that a Conditional Use Permit will be reviewed or renewable after a stated 
time period. 

 
Finding: The proposed home occupation does not have a designated term length. Staff 

recommend Planning Commission consider approving the permit for a period of 
one year with the ability to renew for an additional year, up to two times. The 
proposed use will be permitted, subject to annual review until the ownership of 
the land changes, or until the City of Boardman annexes the property. At that 
time, the proposed use would cease, and the property shall conform to applicable 
city zoning standards.  

 
B. Reviews and Renewals. If a review or renewal date is included as a 

condition by which a conditional use permit is granted, initial review would 
be ministerial and completed by the Planning Director. The holder of the 
conditional use permit will be required to make application and pay the 
requisite fee for review. The review would evaluate the permit conditions 
and adherence to them, determine if any changes had taken place with the 
uses allowed in the zone, and determine whether any complaints had been 
logged concerning the property or the conditional use. If any concerns 
arise further review will take place at a public hearing with notice. If no 
concerns arise the permit will be renewed. 

 
For conditional use permits without a review or renewal condition, or if 
complaints are received concerning a conditional use permit, the County 
may review any valid conditional use permit for compliance with the 
conditions of the permit. This review would be a ministerial review done by 
the Planning Director. If it is deemed necessary by the Planning Director to 
amend or revoke the permit, a public hearing with notice must be held 
before the Planning Commission. If action is based on a complaint the 
complainant may be required to pay any permit review or renewal 
application fees. 

 
Finding: This home occupation shall be reviewed annually with other home occupations 

therefore no condition is necessary. However, the applicant shall maintain the 
home occupation as presented in the application. If complaints are received and 
it is found that the permit is being performed outside what has been proposed the 
applicant will be responsible for paying any applicable review or renewal 
application fees. This is listed as a condition of approval. 

 
C. Revocation or Vacation. Any conditional use permit may be vacated by the 

current landowner or by the County after appropriate notice and hearing 
when: 
• The use has been terminated and there is no expectation by the land 

owner and the County that the use will continue;  

84



• The use is not being conducted in compliance with the stated 
conditions of the permit, or  

• The County finds that the use jeopardizes the public health, safety 
and welfare of Morrow County and the use does not conform to the 
Morrow County Code Enforcement Ordinance or other adopted 
ordinances. (MC OR-1-2013) 

 
Finding: The County reserves the right to revoke the permit based on this criterion. 
 

 
III. LEGAL NOTICE PUBLISHED: February 5, 2025 

Heppner Gazette-Times 
 
      February 5, 2025 
      East Oregonian 

      
IV. AGENCIES NOTIFIED: Brandon Hammond and Carla McLane, City of Boardman; Glen 

McIntire, Building Official; Eric Imes, Morrow County Public Works; Bev Bridgewater, 
West Extension Irrigation District, Mike Hughes and Marty Broadbent, Boardman Fire 
District.  

 
V. PROPERTY OWNERS NOTIFIED: February 5, 2025 
 
VI. HEARING DATE:   February 25, 2025 
      Morrow County Government Building 

Irrigon, Oregon 
 
 
VII. PLANNING COMMISSION:  
  
 Option #1: The Planning Commission may deny CUP-N-378-24. 
  
 Option #2: The Planning Commission may approve CUP-N-378-24 subject to the 

following CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: 
 
 

 
1. The applicant shall maintain the home occupation as presented in the application. 

Three ten-wheeler commercial trucks and two commercial units are permitted with 
this home occupation permit. If complaints are received or it is found that the permit 
is being performed outside what has been proposed the applicant will be responsible 
for paying any applicable review or renewal application fees. 
 

2. All commercial activity shall occur within the hours of 6:00 AM – 6:00 PM. All 
commercial activity should be limited to single trips per unit per day. 
 

3. No more than five full-time or part-time persons will be employed on the site at any 
one time. 

 
 

85



4. Noise, traffic, lighting, and other potential impacts to neighboring properties shall be 
limited to those generally anticipated for a typical residential use. No major 
mechanical work or operation is permitted in conjunction with the home occupation 
permit. 

 
5. This permit is valid for one year, with annual review and an opportunity to renew the 

permit for up to two additional years. This permit is not valid if the ownership of either 
lot changes, at which time the landowner will need to apply for a new conditional use 
permit. This permit is not valid if the property is annexed into the City of Boardman, 
at which time the proposed use will cease, and the property shall conform to 
applicable city zoning standards and regulations.  
 

6. Any proposed signage will need to meet the requirements of the Morrow County 
Zoning Ordinance and receive Zoning Permit Approval.  

 

7. The applicant shall discontinue use of the unpermitted secondary access to the site 
or obtain all necessary public access permits to allow secondary access. 

 
 
 
MORROW COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
 
 
 
 
 
      Stacie Ekstrom, Chair               Date 
 
Attachments: 

A. Vicinity Map 
B. Application with Attachments 

 

 

 

 

86



AS
SE

SS
O

R'
S 

M
AP

/T
AX

O
W

N
ER

 1
O

W
N

ER
 2

M
AI

L 
AD

D
RE

SS
CI

TY
ST

AT
E

ZI
PC

O
D

E
04

N
25

E2
0A

00
11

00
SA

LA
S 

BI
RR

U
ET

A,
 B

U
LM

AR
O

 E
T 

AL
   

   
   

  
35

6 
N

E 
BO

AR
DM

AN
 A

VE
BO

AR
DM

AN
O

R 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

97
81

8
04

N
25

E2
0A

00
59

01
BO

N
HA

M
, R

O
BE

RT
78

47
2 

PA
RK

SI
DE

 D
R

BO
AR

DM
AN

O
R 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
97

81
8

04
N

25
E2

0A
00

62
00

BO
N

HA
M

, R
AL

PH
 E

 &
 O

LI
VE

 M
AR

IE
   

   
   

  
78

47
2 

PA
RK

SI
DE

 R
D

BO
AR

DM
AN

O
R 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
97

81
8

04
N

25
E2

0A
00

10
00

W
ES

T 
G

LE
N

BO
N

HA
M

, R
AL

PH
 &

 O
LI

VE
 (C

)  
   

   
   

   
 

78
47

2 
PA

RK
SI

DE
 R

D
BO

AR
DM

AN
O

R 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

97
81

8
04

N
25

E2
0A

00
57

00
CA

LV
IL

LO
, R

EY
ES

PO
 B

O
X 

13
64

BO
AR

DM
AN

O
R 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
97

81
8

04
N

25
E2

0A
00

58
00

M
EN

DO
ZA

, V
IC

TO
R 

CA
LV

IL
LO

   
   

   
   

   
 

PO
 B

O
X 

13
97

BO
AR

DM
AN

O
R 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
97

81
8

04
N

25
E2

0A
00

28
00

W
ES

T 
G

LE
N

PA
CH

EC
O

, S
AL

VA
DO

R 
(C

)
PO

 B
O

X 
40

5
BO

AR
DM

AN
O

R 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

97
81

8
04

N
25

E2
0A

00
29

00
M

EN
DO

ZA
, V

ER
O

N
IC

A 
SA

N
CH

EZ
 E

T 
AL

   
   

   
PO

 B
O

X 
52

1
BO

AR
DM

AN
O

R 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

97
81

8
04

N
25

E2
0A

00
61

00
G

O
N

ZA
LE

Z,
 R

O
BE

RT
O

 &
 G

U
AD

AL
U

PE
   

   
   

  
PO

 B
O

X 
53

4
BO

AR
DM

AN
O

R 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

97
81

8
04

N
25

E2
0A

00
19

00
CE

RV
AN

TE
S,

 JU
AN

 M
AR

TI
N

EZ
   

   
   

   
   

 
PO

 B
O

X 
74

2
BO

AR
DM

AN
O

R 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

97
81

8
04

N
25

E2
0A

00
31

00
O

LG
U

IN
, J

AV
IE

R 
M

AR
TI

N
EZ

PO
 B

O
X 

78
7

BO
AR

DM
AN

O
R 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
97

81
8

04
N

25
E2

0A
00

30
00

W
ES

T 
G

LE
N

M
AR

TI
N

EZ
, B

RI
G

ID
O

 (D
EE

D)
   

   
   

   
   

 
PO

 B
O

X 
78

7
BO

AR
DM

AN
O

R 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

97
81

8
04

N
25

E2
0A

00
60

00
CA

LV
IL

LO
 C

AN
O

, R
AF

AE
L

PO
 B

O
X 

82
3

BO
AR

DM
AN

O
R 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
97

81
8

04
N

25
E2

0A
00

18
00

BA
RA

JA
S,

 M
AR

IA
 D

E 
LA

 L
U

Z 
ET

AL
   

   
   

  
PO

 B
O

X 
91

3
BO

AR
DM

AN
O

R 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

97
81

8

CU
P-

N
-3

78
-2

4|
Vi

ct
or

 C
al

vi
llo

|S
R

25
0f

t.
no

tic
e.

4N
25

E2
0A

 T
L5

80
0

S:
\P

la
nn

in
g\

CU
P\

N
or

th
\2

02
4

87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



February 11, 2025 

 

   TO WHOM IT MAY CONSERN; 

 

     HAS I SAID BE FOR WE DO NOT NEED ANY MORE 10 WHEELERS OR SEMI`S OUT HERE IN  WEST 
GLENN ESATES RESADTIONAL AREA. 

 

WE HAVE FAR TO MANY HAS IT IS  AFTER ALL THIS IS A RESADTIONAL AREA  NOT A PLACE TO 
STARTE A TRUCKING OPPERATION. 

 

WE WOULD LIKE TO SEE THEM  ALL  GONE.     THIS IS NO PLACE TO STARTE  A BUSINESS AS 
STATED.   

 

MY WIFE AN I HAVE LIVED OUT HERE FOR MORE THEN 40 YRS  WE HAVE SEEN CHANGES  OUT 
HERE SOME GOOD AN SOOM BAD  AN THIS TRUCKS ARE BAD.   ALL THEY DO IS TEAR UP OUR 
ROADS. 

 

        THANK YOU FOR READING, 

 

            

95



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

96



PRELIMINARY FINDINGS OF FACT 
CONDITIONAL USE REQUEST 

CUP-N-385-25 
 
REQUEST:  To allow a Home Occupation Permit in a Rural Residential (RR) Zone for the 

operation of a small commercial trucking business.  
 
 
 
APPLICANT/OWNER:  Eudoro Cardenas Herrera 
     195 NE Oregon Avenue 
     Irrigon, OR 97844 
 
PROPERTY DESCRIPTION:  Tax Lot 403 of Assessor’s Map 5N 26E 22D 01  
 
PROPERTY LOCATION:  ± 1.55 miles north of Highway 730, outside the Irrigon 

Urban Growth Boundary (UGB) on West Eighth Road.  
 
 

I. BACKGROUND INFORMATION: The subject site is 3.57 acres and is located within 
the Rural Residential (RR) zone, approximately 1.5 miles west of the Irrigon Urban 
Growth Boundary (UGB). This Conditional Use Permit application requests a Home 
Occupation Permit to allow the applicant to operate and park three commercial units on 
the property. The applicant has been operating commercial trucks on the site for some 
time and submitted the CUP application in response to code enforcement actions. The 
applicant is one of more than a dozen commercial truck operators under code 
enforcement action for utilizing residential property within Morrow County without the 
appropriate land use approvals. The approval of this CUP will serve to rectify 
outstanding code violations while providing specific parameters for the operation of the 
existing business.        
 
Because the subject property is located outside the Irrigon UGB, there are no direct 
concerns with the use being compatible with city zoning designations. Access to the site 
is on West Eighth Road, a County owned and maintained road. 
 
MCZO Section 3.050.C.2 Limitations on Uses allows a landowner “to use a truck or 
tractor unit as personal transportation to the resident parcel.  No more than one (1) truck 
or tractor unit is allowed per parcel.”  The applicant is proposing to have three 
commercial units parked on his property and operated seasonally.   

 
 

II. STAFF RECOMMENDATION: The county has initiated a neighborhood-based 
code compliance effort to address growing concerns regarding unregulated commercial 
trucking operations and impacts to public roads and residential zones throughout the 
county. Staff understand that this effort puts property owners such as the Cardenas’s in 
a difficult situation, as they have been operating their business on their residential 
property for a while for agricultural purposes. Staff are neither recommending the 
approval or denial of this CUP.  

 

97



III. COMPLIANCE WITH MORROW COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE SECTIONS 3.040, 
6.030, 6.050, and 6.075. The requirements for approval are listed below in bold type, 
followed by a response in standard type. 

 
SECTION 3.040 RURAL RESIDENTIAL ZONE, RR 
 
The RR Zone recognizes the existence of smaller lots outside of urban growth 
boundaries and allows the continuation of single family dwellings on small lots in 
areas where this development has been established. In an RR Zone, the following 
regulations shall apply: 

 
B. Conditional Uses Permitted. In an RR 1 Zone, the following uses and their 

accessory uses are permitted when authorized in accordance with the 
requirements set forth in Article 6.  

  
8. Home occupations subject to the limitations set forth in Article 6 of 

the this ordinance 
 
Finding: The applicant proposes parking the three commercial trucking units on the 

northwest end of the parcel where they will be minimally visible from the road 
and/or adjacent residences.   

 
SECTION 6.030 GENERAL CONDITIONS.  
 
In addition to the standards and conditions set forth in a specific zone, this article, 
and other applicable regulations; in permitting a new conditional use or the 
alteration of an existing conditional use, the Commission may impose conditions 
which it finds necessary to avoid a detrimental impact and to otherwise protect 
the best interests of the surrounding area or the County as a whole. These 
conditions may include the following: 
 
A. Limiting the manner in which the use is conducted including restricting the 

time an activity may take place and restraints to minimize such 
environmental effects as noise, vibration, air pollution, glare, and odor. 
 

Finding: The proposed use shall be operated in a way that will not intentionally disturb 
neighboring residences. The Cardenas’s have operated commercial trucks on 
the subject property for several years and the county with no specific concerns 
directly related to their existing operation. Nonetheless, the county has received 
general complaints related to the operation of commercial trucks in residential 
neighborhoods. The proposed home occupation has the potential to generate 
some noise, traffic, and impacts to County maintained roads. The recommended 
conditions of approval attempt to mitigate anticipated and expressed concerns. 
The applicant did not provide specific details on operation times or activity taking 
place onsite. However, similar operations have indicated that operations start at 
approximately 6-7 AM and return approximately between 5:00PM and 6:00PM. 
Previous Planning Commission approvals have included a 6:00AM to 6:00PM 
window for operation, this has also been included as a Condition of Approval for 
this application. Any minor maintenance, such as tire and oil changes, must be 
conducted during hours that comply with the noise standards outlined in the 

98



Morrow County Code Enforcement Ordinance. No major mechanical operations 
on commercial vehicles are to be conducted on the property.  

 
Any complaints received of operations outside of these hours may result in a 
review of the activity and potential revocation of the permit. 

 
B. Establishing a special yard or other open space or lot area or dimension. 
 

Finding: This proposed use will use existing lot area. Planning staff do not recommend 
any additional requirements for open space. 
 

C. Limiting the height, size, or location of a building or other structure. 
 

Finding: This application does not include the approval of new buildings or accessory 
structures. Staff do not recommend any additional limitations on the height, size, 
or location of the structures. 
 

D. Designating the size, number, location, and nature of vehicle access 
points. 
1. Where access to a county road is needed, a permit from the Morrow 

County Public Works department is required. Where access to a 
state highway is needed, a permit from ODOT is required. 
 

Finding: The existing access to the site is from West Eighth Road. This road is a 
dedicated public roadway maintained by the County.  

 
In addition to the other standards and conditions set forth in this section, a 
TIA will be required for all projects generating more than 400 passenger car 
equivalent trips per day. A TIA will include: trips generated by the project, 
trip distribution for the project, identification of intersections for which the 
project adds 30 or more peak hour passenger car equivalent trips, and level 
of service assessment, impacts of the project, and mitigation of the 
impacts. If the corridor is a State Highway, use ODOT standards. 

 
Finding:  This action will not trigger the need for a Traffic Impact Analysis as it will not 

generate more than 400 passenger car equivalent trips per day. According to the 
Applicant’s narrative, the trucks enter and exit the property once per day during 
the operational season, approximately six months out of the year. During the 
remaining months of the year, these trucks sit dormant on the subject parcel. 
This analysis does not trigger the need for a TIA analysis in and of itself. 
Deviation from the proposed use plan may result in a review of the activity and 
potential revocation of the permit. 

 
 

E. Increasing the amount of street dedication, roadway width, or 
improvements within the street right-of-way. 

 
Finding: No increase in street dedication, roadway width, or improvements in the right-of-

way are proposed by the applicant. These preliminary Findings of Fact have 
been provided to Morrow County Public Works for their review and comment. 
  

99



1. It is the responsibility of the landowner to provide appropriate access 
for emergency vehicles at the time of development. 

 
Finding: Preliminary Findings of Fact have been provided to Irrigon Fire and Rescue for 

their review and comment. 
 

F. Designating the size, location, screening, drainage, surfacing or other 
improvement of a parking area or loading area. 

 
Finding: The subject parcel is located within a residential area off West Eighth Road north 

of Washington Lane. As identified on the site plan, the trucks will be parked on 
the eastern perimeter, adjacent to tax lot 1100 to minimize visibility from the 
roadway. Staff do not recommend additional conditions of approval related to the 
parking area of the trucks as proposed.   

 
G. Limiting or otherwise designating the number, size, location, height, and 

lighting of signs. 
 

Finding: The Applicant has not requested signage for the Home Occupation. Any future 
signs must meet the sign requirements in the Morrow County Zoning Ordinance. 
 

H. Limiting the location and intensity of outdoor lighting and requiring its 
shielding. 

 
Finding: Lighting is not proposed with the application. Any outdoor lighting other than 

typical residential lighting shall be limited and shielded from the roadway and 
neighboring residences. 
 

I. Requiring diking, screening, landscaping or another facility to protect 
adjacent or nearby property and designating standards for its installation 
and maintenance. 
 

Finding: The proposed use would not require diking, screening or landscaping to protect 
nearby property. Planning staff are not recommending any of these provisions 
due to the proposed use. 

 
J. Designating the size, height, location and materials for a fence. 
 

Finding: Based on the current and proposed uses planning staff would not require any 
additional conditions related to fencing. 

 
 
K. Protecting and preserving existing trees, vegetation, water resources, 

wildlife habitat or other significant natural resources. 
 

Finding: The proposed home occupation will be limited to existing structures and will not 
create any foreseeable natural resource impacts based on the proposed use. 
Planning staff are not recommending additional conditions related to natural 
resources.  

 

100



L. Other conditions necessary to permit the development of the County in 
conformity with the intent and purpose of this Ordinance and the policies 
of the Comprehensive Plan. 
 

Finding: A copy of the Preliminary Findings of Fact has been provided to the City of 
Irrigon for their review and comment.  

 
 

SECTION 6.050 STANDARDS GOVERNING CONDITIONAL USES 
 

A conditional use shall comply with the standards of the zone in which it is 
located and with the standards set forth in this subsection. 
 
G. Home Occupations, when permitted as a conditional use and conducted as 

an accessory use, shall be subject to the following limitations:  
1. The home occupation is to be secondary to the main use of the 

property as a residence and shall be conducted within the same 
dwelling or in an accessory building on the same property. 

 
Finding: The primary use of the property is residential and does not include the approval 

of any new structures or modifications to existing structures. The applicant will be 
conducting the home occupation within the existing buildings, with truck parking 
outside of the existing structures, as shown on the applicant’s site plan. This 
criterion is met. 

  
2. No structural alterations shall be allowed to accommodate the home 

occupation except when otherwise required by law, and then only 
after the plans for such alteration have been reviewed and approved 
by the Planning Commission. Such structural alterations shall not 
detract from the outward appearance of the building as an 
accessory structure to a residence.  

 
Finding: No structural alterations are proposed nor will be needed to accommodate the 

home occupation. This criterion is met. 
 

3. One non-illuminated sign not to exceed 200 square inches and 
bearing only the name and occupation of the resident shall be 
permitted. 

 
Finding: No signs are proposed with this application. Any future signs will need to meet 

the requirements of the Morrow County sign ordinance. This criterion is met.  
 

4. No materials or mechanical equipment shall be used which will be 
detrimental to the residential use of the property or adjoining 
residences because of vibration, noise, dust, smoke, odor, 
interferences with radio or television reception, or other factors.  
 

Finding:  No materials or mechanical equipment which is detrimental to adjoining 
properties is needed for the proposed use. This criterion is met. 

  

101



5. No materials or commodities shall be delivered to or from the 
property which are of such bulk or quantity as to require delivery by 
a commercial vehicle or a trailer or the parking of customer's 
vehicles in a manner or frequency as to cause disturbance or 
inconvenience to nearby residents or so as to necessitate off-street 
parking.  
 

Finding:  Deliveries are not required for the proposed use. The proposal necessitates 
parking for three commercial units on the subject site. Staff recognize that the 
use has been ongoing for several years and does not anticipate that this will 
contribute to any disturbance to nearby residents. This criterion is met. 

 
 6. Retail sales shall be limited or accessory to a service.  

 
Finding:  Retail sales are not proposed with the application. This criterion is met. 

 
7. Be operated by a resident or employee of a resident of the property 

on which the business is located. 
  

Finding:  The applicant has made known that the commercial operation will be operated by 
himself and persons which he employs. This criterion is met. 

 
 

8. The permit allowing a home occupation shall be reviewed every 12 
months following the date the permit was issued and may continue 
the permit if the home occupation continues to comply with the 
requirements of this section. 

  
Finding:  This permit will be reviewed annually with other home occupation 
  permits as long as the proposed use continues. 

 
SECTION 6.075. LENGTH OF PERMITS, PERMIT HOLDER, RENEWAL AND 
REVOCATION. 
 
A. Length of Permit and Permit Holder: The County may evaluate how long a 

particular conditional use is expected to remain valid. Some conditional 
uses may be considered "permanent" as a fully developed use that "runs 
with the land" and it attaches to and benefits the land and is not limited to a 
particular landowner. The County may require the owner of the original 
conditional use permit to record the permitted use on the deed record.  
The permit is the responsibility of the current owner of the property, 
whether that is the original applicant or a successor. 

 
A conditional use permit may allow a use that would benefit the permit 
owner on a sporadic or temporary basis until the purpose for the 
conditional use permit no longer exists. Upon termination of the use, the 
land must be in a condition that it may be re-developed in compliance with 
its current zoning designation. The County may authorize a conditional use 
permit until a particular date, for a stated period of time, or until the 
occurrence of a particular event. Additionally, the County may stipulate 

102



that a Conditional Use Permit will be reviewed or renewable after a stated 
time period. 

 
Finding: The proposed home occupation does not have a designated term length. Staff 

recommend Planning Commission consider approving the permit for a period of 
one year with the ability to renew for an additional year, up to two times. The 
proposed use will be permitted, subject to annual review until the ownership of 
the land changes, or until the use is discontinued.  

 
B. Reviews and Renewals. If a review or renewal date is included as a 

condition by which a conditional use permit is granted, initial review would 
be ministerial and completed by the Planning Director. The holder of the 
conditional use permit will be required to make application and pay the 
requisite fee for review. The review would evaluate the permit conditions 
and adherence to them, determine if any changes had taken place with the 
uses allowed in the zone, and determine whether any complaints had been 
logged concerning the property or the conditional use. If any concerns 
arise further review will take place at a public hearing with notice. If no 
concerns arise the permit will be renewed. 

 
For conditional use permits without a review or renewal condition, or if 
complaints are received concerning a conditional use permit, the County 
may review any valid conditional use permit for compliance with the 
conditions of the permit. This review would be a ministerial review done by 
the Planning Director. If it is deemed necessary by the Planning Director to 
amend or revoke the permit, a public hearing with notice must be held 
before the Planning Commission. If action is based on a complaint the 
complainant may be required to pay any permit review or renewal 
application fees. 

 
Finding: This home occupation shall be reviewed annually with other home occupations 

therefore no condition is necessary. However, the applicant shall maintain the 
home occupation as presented in the application. If complaints are received and 
it is found that the permit is being performed outside what has been proposed the 
applicant will be responsible for paying any applicable review or renewal 
application fees. This is listed as a condition of approval. 

 
C. Revocation or Vacation. Any conditional use permit may be vacated by the 

current landowner or by the County after appropriate notice and hearing 
when: 
• The use has been terminated and there is no expectation by the land 

owner and the County that the use will continue;  
• The use is not being conducted in compliance with the stated 

conditions of the permit, or  
• The County finds that the use jeopardizes the public health, safety 

and welfare of Morrow County and the use does not conform to the 
Morrow County Code Enforcement Ordinance or other adopted 
ordinances. (MC OR-1-2013) 

 
Finding: The County reserves the right to revoke the permit based on this criterion. 
 

103



 
III. LEGAL NOTICE PUBLISHED: February 5, 2025 

Heppner Gazette-Times 
 
      February 5, 2025 
      East Oregonian 

      
IV. AGENCIES NOTIFIED: Aaron Palmquist, City of Irrigon; Glen McIntire, Building Official; 

Eric Imes, Morrow County Public Works; Bev Bridgewater, West Extension Irrigation 
District, Tom Roberts, Irrigon Fire District, Landon Jones, Umatilla Electric CO.  

 
V. PROPERTY OWNERS NOTIFIED: February 5, 2025 
 
VI. HEARING DATE:   February 25, 2025 
      Morrow County Government Building  

Irrigon, Oregon 
 
 
VII. PLANNING COMMISSION:  
  
 Option #1: The Planning Commission may deny CUP-N-385-25. 
  
 Option #2: The Planning Commission may approve CUP-N-385-25 subject to the 

following CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: 
 
 

 
1. The applicant shall maintain the home occupation as presented in the application. 

Only three commercial trucking units are permitted with this home occupation permit. 
If complaints are received or it is found that the permit is being performed outside 
what has been proposed the applicant will be responsible for paying any applicable 
review or renewal application fees. 
 

2. All commercial activity shall occur within the hours of 6:00 AM – 6:00 PM. All 
commercial activity should be limited to single trips per unit per day. 
 

3. No more than five full-time or part-time persons will be employed on the site at any 
one time. 

 
 

4. Noise, traffic, lighting, and other potential impacts to neighboring properties shall be 
limited to those generally anticipated for a typical residential use. No major 
mechanical work or operation is permitted in conjunction with the home occupation 
permit. 

 
5. This permit is valid for one year, with annual review and an opportunity to renew the 

permit for up to two additional years. This permit is not valid if the ownership of either 
lot changes, at which time the landowner will need to apply for a new conditional use 
permit.  
 

104



6. Any proposed signage will need to meet the requirements of the Morrow County 
Zoning Ordinance and receive Zoning Permit Approval. 

 

7. This permit does not include the approval of any new structures or modifications to 
existing structures.  

 

 
 
 
 
MORROW COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
 
 
 
 
 
      Stacie Ekstrom, Chair               Date 
 
Attachments: 

A. Vicinity Map 
B. Application with Attachments 

 

 

 

 

105



106



AS
SE

SS
O

R'
S 

M
AP

/T
AX

O
W

N
ER

 1
O

W
N

ER
 2

M
AI

L 
AD

D
RE

SS
CI

TY
ST

AT
E

ZI
PC

O
D

E
05

N
26

E2
20

00
04

03
CA

RD
EN

AS
, E

U
DO

RO
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
19

5 
N

E 
O

RE
G

O
N

 A
VE

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

IR
RI

G
O

N
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

O
R 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
97

84
4

05
N

26
E2

20
00

04
13

AM
BR

IZ
, J

 A
M

PA
RO

 &
 A

M
BR

IZ
, R

O
SA

LV
A 

   
  

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

74
51

0 
FR

O
BE

RG
 L

N
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
IR

RI
G

O
N

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
O

R 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

97
84

4
05

N
26

E2
2A

D0
09

00
BE

RG
, P

ER
 H

EN
RY

 &
 B

ER
G

, I
O

N
A 

K 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

74
54

6 
FR

O
BE

RG
 L

N
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
IR

RI
G

O
N

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
O

R 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

97
84

4
05

N
26

E2
3C

00
12

00
G

RE
ER

, L
EN

N
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
74

55
7 

W
AS

HI
N

G
TO

N
 L

N
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

IR
RI

G
O

N
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

O
R 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
97

84
4

05
N

26
E2

20
00

09
02

VA
N

DE
CA

R,
 R

O
BE

RT
 L

, I
II 

ET
AL

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

81
57

0 
W

 E
IG

HT
H 

RD
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
IR

RI
G

O
N

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
O

R 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

97
84

4
05

N
26

E2
20

00
09

00
VA

N
DE

CA
R,

 R
O

BE
RT

 L
, I

II 
ET

AL
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
81

57
0 

W
 E

IG
HT

H 
RD

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

IR
RI

G
O

N
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

O
R 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
97

84
4

05
N

26
E2

20
00

10
00

VA
N

DE
CA

R,
 R

O
BE

RT
 &

 E
LA

IN
E 

   
   

   
   

  
AD

AM
S,

 G
O

RD
O

N
 L

EE
 E

TA
L 

(C
)  

   
   

   
   

81
57

4 
W

 8
TH

 R
D 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
IR

RI
G

O
N

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
O

R 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

97
84

4
05

N
26

E2
2A

D0
11

00
DI

AM
O

N
D,

 D
O

U
G

LA
S 

J E
T 

AL
   

   
   

   
   

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
81

62
2 

W
 E

IG
HT

H 
RD

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

IR
RI

G
O

N
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

O
R 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
97

84
4

05
N

26
E2

3B
00

35
00

M
EA

KI
N

S,
 E

RI
C 

R 
&

 M
EA

KI
N

S,
 R

EN
AT

E 
L 

   
 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

81
63

1 
W

 E
IG

HT
H 

RD
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
IR

RI
G

O
N

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
O

R 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

97
84

4
05

N
26

E2
2A

D0
10

00
RE

ID
, R

AY
M

O
N

D 
E 

&
 D

EE
N

A 
L 

   
   

   
   

  
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
81

64
8 

W
 E

IG
HT

H 
RD

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

IR
RI

G
O

N
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

O
R 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
97

84
4

05
N

26
E2

2A
D0

06
00

LA
TH

RO
M

, W
AY

M
O

N
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

81
67

8 
W

 E
IG

HT
H 

RD
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
IR

RI
G

O
N

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
O

R 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

97
84

4
05

N
26

E2
2A

D0
07

00
SV

AT
O

N
SK

Y,
 L

EO
RA

 J 
&

 B
EN

 A
LA

N
   

   
   

  
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
PO

 B
O

X 
25

0 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
IR

RI
G

O
N

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
O

R 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

97
84

4
05

N
26

E2
20

00
04

12
W

IS
E,

 JE
FF

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

PO
 B

O
X 

71
0 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

IR
RI

G
O

N
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

O
R 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
97

84
4

CU
P-

N
-3

85
-2

5|
D

ud
or

o 
Ca

rd
er

as
 H

er
re

ra
|R

R
25

0f
t.

no
tic

e.
5N

26
E2

2D
01

 T
L4

03
S:

\P
la

nn
in

g\
CU

P\
N

or
th

\2
02

5

107



108



109



110



111



112



113



February 10, 2025

 We do not support Conditional Use permit CUP-N-385-25

Morrow County Planning Department

 There is already a trucking business of some sort on the corner of Columbia and West Seventh Road.  
When the trucks are parked along side of Columbia they create a safety hazard for all traveling in that 
area.  The trucks block on coming traffic when trying to go east to town off of seventh.  The only thing 
is there are not very many close neighbors.

West Eighth Road is not designed for constant truck traffic.  In fact, over the years, the county has 
recommended that trucks should use alternate routes.  The road is not wide enough for trucks to enter 
or exit into that location without impacting local traffic.

Having another trucking outfit further down eighth will cause even more noise, traffic and safety 
hazards for the neighbors living around it.  It is even more populated and the neighbors a lot closer in 
proximatey.  We have families and children that walk and bike around the neighborhood.  It would be 
less safe for the neighborhood.  Trucking companies do not keep regular hours and will be coming and 
going at all hours of the night.  Mechanics at those sites go on at all hours also.  We feel it will harm the
livability of our neighborhood.

There is another business with trucks and equipment on Froberg lane off of Eighth street that has been 
there for 30 years or more.  While we like our neighbors very much, over the years there has been 
constant noise from trucks, generators and what have you acrosss the pasture from us.  This new 
trucking company would be just around the corner from this one.  We feel because of noise, safety, and 
increased traffic this business should not be allowed in a residential neighborhood.

Thank you for your consideration,

Robert and Elaine Vandecar
81570 W. Eighth Road
Irrigon, Or  97844
541-571-0633

114



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

115



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To:  Morrow County Board of Commissioners 
From:  Tamra Mabbott, Planning Director 
CC:  Planning Commission 
BOC Date: February 19, 2025 
RE:  Monthly Planning Update 
  
Mission Statement 
Morrow County Planning Department provides guidance and support to citizens for short-term and 
long-range planning in land use, to sustain and improve the county’s lands for future generations. 
Our goal is to foster development where people can live, work & play.  
 
Planning Commission Update  
The Planning Commission held a meeting on January 28, 2025 in Heppner.  The Planning 
Commission approved a Variance application, and two Conditional Use Permits to allow for the 
temporary operation of a commercial trucking business.  The commission continued a land 
partition application to the February 25th meeting in Irrigon.  Planning Commission packets are 
available on the county website:  https://www.co.morrow.or.us/meetings. 
 
Permitting Update 
The attached graph and tables illustrate the growth in permit volume over a 10-year period.  In 
2024, the Planning Department processed almost 50% more permits than the previous year. 
During this same period, the Department experienced a 50% turnover in staffing.  The 2024 permit 
volumes more than doubled in the 10-year period beginning 2015.  This data does not include 
long-range projects or code enforcement activity. 
 
Staff Update 
Department welcomed Jim Bagley, Principal Planner, who comes to the county with five years’ 
experience as a Senior Planner in Idaho and a year as a Senior Planner in Moses Lake, Washington.  

116



  
Energy Projects 
The Wheatridge Wind 
Energy project is under 
construction. The project 
was reviewed and 
approved by the state 
Energy Facility Siting 
Council (EFSC).  Planning 
Department, Public 
Works, and Weed 
Department continue to 
receive comments from 
landowners and others 
about the impact of the construction.   The EFSC has the lead responsibility for compliance with 
the EFSC permit.  More information about the state permitting process and state permit 
compliance with EFSC Site Certificates can be found here 
https://www.oregon.gov/energy/facilities-safety/facilities/Documents/Fact-Sheets/EFSC-Public-
Guide.pdf 
 
Staff continue to review and meet with existing and proposed new developers on a variety of new 
energy and energy-related applications and amendments to approved projects.  For example, the 
county expects to see the first stand-alone battery storage facility.   Energy projects in Morrow 
County can be found here:  https://www.co.morrow.or.us/planning/page/renewable-energy-1  
 
Staff joined Oregon Department of Energy and Nextera staff at the Wheatridge laydown and 
administration location for a site visit.   
 
Morrow County Heritage Trail Update 
Staff partnered with J-U-B Engineering to launch a website and online survey on January 29th, 
targeted primarily at Boardman and Irrigon residents to determine current usage and desired 
future improvements and amenities to the Columbia River Heritage Trail. A public open house is 
scheduled for February 12th from 5:30-8:00 PM at the SAGE Event Center in Boardman to promote 
survey participation and answer questions.  
 
In preparation for the survey and open house, staff kicked off a significant outreach effort. Print 
and online materials were prepared in both English and Spanish. In total, 2,796 postcards were 
USPS direct-mailed to every household in Boardman and Irrigon, 1,920 flyers were hand-delivered 
to every K-12 student in Boardman and Irrigon schools, and ~20 flyers were posted at businesses 
and organizations across Boardman, Irrigon, and Heppner. Additionally, online information was 
posted to the Morrow County Facebook page and emailed to ~50 local stakeholders and agencies.  
 
 
 
 

117

https://www.oregon.gov/energy/facilities-safety/facilities/Documents/Fact-Sheets/EFSC-Public-Guide.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/energy/facilities-safety/facilities/Documents/Fact-Sheets/EFSC-Public-Guide.pdf
https://www.co.morrow.or.us/planning/page/renewable-energy-1


The survey is available online until May 1, 2025, and more information can be found on the 
following websites: 

 
English: https://arcg.is/1yOqW05  
 
Spanish: https://arcg.is/14HDbq3  
 
Anyone interested in being involved in the 
trail plan update please contact Clint 
Shoemake, Planning Technician. 
 
 
 
 
 

GIS Mapping and Drone  
Stephen Wrecsics, GIS Analyst, is assisting the Town of Lexington with mapping support for an 
infrastructure project within city limits. The town does not have in-house GIS capabilities, so the 
department is providing spatial data, base maps, and analysis to support planning and decision-
making. 

 
If you have any questions or would like to see any of the department’s technology, stop by the 
Planning Department on Tuesday-Friday from 8am to 5pm or give Stephen a call on (541) 
922.4624 to schedule a time.  
 
 
CODE COMPLIANCE  
Kaitlin Kennedy, the Compliance Planner was able to participate in a site visit at the Wheatridge 
Wind Energy Project East off Meyers Rd and observe compliance staff from Oregon Department of 
Energy meet with Nextera and visit a few areas of the project. Currently, code enforcement has 

118

https://arcg.is/1yOqW05
https://arcg.is/14HDbq3


opened nine new violations, closed two citations, and will be presenting two trucking CUPs at 
February’s planning commission meeting.  
 
WATER AND PLANNING ACTIVITIES  
Water Advisory Committee   
Staff are preparing to implement measures recommended in Resolution No. R-2024-31 adopted 
by the Board of Commissioners in December.  The Resolution supports four initiatives:   
Initiative 1:  Update the comprehensive plan Goals 5 and 6; 
Initiative 2: Develop a Morrow County Drinking Water Program;  This measure is underway with 
the Public Health Department. 
Initiative 3:  Support Regional Water Planning; and 
Initiative 4:  Partner in a Clean Water Consortium.  This measure has begun with leadership of 
Chair David Sykes.   
 
LUBGWMA  
LUBGWMA Committee met on Friday, January 17th at the Irrigon 
Library, the first meeting in months.  LUBGWMA is expected to 
hear a report by state agencies on how they are implementing 
the “Oregon Nitrate Reduction Plan.”   
https://www.oregon.gov/deq/wq/Documents/GWP-
OregonNitrateReductionPlan-2024.pdf 
 
Oregon DEQ welcomes public comments on the Nitrate 
Reduction Plan.  Here is a link to submit comments on the plan:  

Feedback Form: Oregon Nitrate Reduction Plan for 
LUBGWMA. 

Planning staff continue to participate in the development of a 
new story map that will include information about the multiple 
aspects of nitrates, from public health implications, sources of 
contamination, land use-related matters, geology, and more.  
Stephen Wresics has been instrumental in designing digital 
documents.  When complete, the web address will be shared. 
The interagency goal is to have a comprehensive, single source to document answer most 
questions about nitrates in the Lower Umatilla Basin.  
 
EPA Grant - Morrow Umatilla County Drinking Water ROADMAP   
The Steering Committee for the Umatilla Morrow County Drinking Water ROADMAP will meet on 
February 13th in Irrigon.   GSI and HDR have met with each of the cities within the LUBGWMA area 
and the meeting will focus on opportunities and capacities for cities to provide water to rural 
residences.  Implementation of the Outreach and Communication Plan will also be on the agenda.  
Planning Department mailed a letter to the dozen residents who participated in the Fall well 
testing event by the GSI team.  Anyone interested in participating in the well research please 
contact Tamra Mabbott.   
 

119

https://www.oregon.gov/deq/wq/Documents/GWP-OregonNitrateReductionPlan-2024.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/deq/wq/Documents/GWP-OregonNitrateReductionPlan-2024.pdf
https://forms.office.com/pages/responsepage.aspx?id=Mmk_qnz6tEegzqWYytFhz7TvnBVwttpNmOBDxkOZaYhUN1ZSMzJFU1FGVUNaT0U4SFM4VkNIRjU5VCQlQCN0PWcu&route=shorturl
https://forms.office.com/pages/responsepage.aspx?id=Mmk_qnz6tEegzqWYytFhz7TvnBVwttpNmOBDxkOZaYhUN1ZSMzJFU1FGVUNaT0U4SFM4VkNIRjU5VCQlQCN0PWcu&route=shorturl


Staff from Umatilla and Morrow County and GSI Water Solutions, Inc. will be presenting at the 
March 7-8 Farm City Ag and Home Expo, an event that is focused on informing rural landowners 
and farmers about the latest science, technology and best practices.   
 
The Clean Drinking Water Consortium held its inaugural meeting on February 4th at the Port of 
Morrow.  There was a good turnout of individuals and organizations interested in raising funds for 
projects that will help fund permanent clean drinking water. Planning Director Mabbott is a 
member of the consortium, along with County Chair David Sykes, Lisa Mittelsdorf, Port of Morrow 
General Manager and Kelly Doherty, Port Commissioner.  The consortium will meet again on 
Friday, February 14th to consider the submission of a request for Congressional Direct Spending 
(CDS).  The initial meeting was focused on organizational structure; the next steps for the 
consortium will be discussed at upcoming meetings.  
 
Additional Public Engagement for West Glen Area 
The Rural Engagement and Vitality Center (REV), a nonprofit organization affiliated with Eastern 
Oregon University (EOU) is beginning their outreach work in the West Glen area, specifically to 
listen and dialogue with residents whose wells tested high in nitrates.  Staff of REV and EOU 
faculty will be in the neighborhood soon. 
 
Transportation Planning  
The planning staff is involved with the development of the Interstate 84 - Exit 159 Tower Road 
Interchange Area Management Plan (IAMP) and the Transportation Growth Management (TGM) 
Grant to update the Morrow County Transportation System Plan. The first technical advisory 
committee (TAC) meeting for the Tower Road/I-84 IAMP will be held on January 21, 2025 in 
Boardman. At present, the planning staff and Kittleson & Associates are working on developing a 
website for the planning project that will include updates, technical memos, and a place for public 
comment.  Planning, Public Works, ODOT and Kittelson have collaborated on three technical 
memos which will be shared during the January 21st TAC meeting. The website should be up and 
available for public viewing within the next thirty to forty-five days.   Planning Staff and ODOT staff 
continue to refine the scope of work for the Morrow County TSP Update which will also include a 
small transportation planning project for the Town of Lexington 
 
Anyone interested in participating in the study or serving on a transportation planning advisory 
committee please contact Tamra Mabbott or Kaitlin Kennedy in the Planning Department. 
 
The Morrow County Transportation System Plan and other transportation planning documents are 
on the Planning Department webpage here:  
https://www.co.morrow.or.us/planning/page/transportation-system-plan-0 
 
 
 

120

https://www.co.morrow.or.us/planning/page/transportation-system-plan-0


12
8

13
5

13
9

16
5

17
6

20
3

20
5

19
1

17
8

28
7

05010
0

15
0

20
0

25
0

30
0

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

20
19

20
20

20
21

20
22

20
23

20
24

To
ta

l A
pp

lic
at

io
ns

 S
ub

m
itt

ed
 b

y 
Ye

ar
,

La
st

 1
0 

Ye
ar

s (
20

15
-2

02
4)

Zo
ni

ng
, 1

52

LU
D,

 1
8

LU
CS

, 6
7

LP
, 1

1

CU
P,

 2
2

PL
A,

 3
Re

pl
at

, 4
Am

en
dm

en
t, 

4

Va
ria

nc
e,

 5

H
ar

ds
hi

p,
 1

20
24

 A
pp

lic
at

io
ns

 S
ub

m
itt

ed
 b

y 
Ty

pe
To

ta
l =

 2
87

0510152025

LU
D

Su
bd

iv
is

io
n

LP
CU

P
PL

A
Re

pl
at

Am
en

dm
en

t
Va

ria
nc

e
H

ar
ds

hi
p

O
th

er
 A

pp
lic

at
io

ns
 S

ub
m

itt
ed

 P
er

 Y
ea

r, 
20

20
-2

02
4

20
20

20
21

20
22

20
23

20
24

11
4

11
2

98

80

15
2

02040608010
0

12
0

14
0

16
0

Zo
ni

ng

Zo
ni

ng
 P

er
m

its
 S

ub
m

itt
ed

 P
er

 Y
ea

r,
20

20
-2

02
4

20
20

20
21

20
22

20
23

20
24

56

35

52

59

67

010203040506070

LU
CS

LU
CS

 S
ub

m
itt

ed
 P

er
 Y

ea
r,

20
20

-2
02

4

20
20

20
21

20
22

20
23

20
24

121



storymaps.arcgis.com/CRHT

LEARN MORE

Morrow County is in the process of updating the Columbia River Heritage Trail (CRHT) Concept 
Plan. Your feedback will be used to decide which trail improvements and amenities are 
implemented over the next 5-20 years. Atención a Todos los Usuarios de Senderos El condado de 
Morrow está actualizando el plan conceptual del Columbia River Heritage Trail (CRHT). Su comentarios se 
utilizará para decidir qué mejoras y servicios se llevarán a cabo en los próximos 5-20 años.

WHAT: WHEN: WHERE:

TELL US WHAT YOU THINK!

COLUMBIA RIVER HERITAGE TRAIL

ATTENTION TRAIL USERS!

122


	ADP85B3.tmp
	Prop List

	ADP47F3.tmp
	Prop List

	02252025 Agenda.pdf
	1. Call to Order
	2. Introduction of new Planning Department staff, Principal Planner, Jim Bagley
	3. Roll Call
	4. Pledge of Allegiance
	6.      Public Hearings to begin at 6:00 PM (COMMISSION ACTION REQUIRED)
	7. Other Business:   Code Compliance Update-Kaitlin Kennedy
	Long-range planning priorities -Tamra Mabbott
	February monthly update
	8. Correspondence:
	9. Public Comment:
	10. Adjourn

	Draft PC Minutes 01282025 .pdf
	II. Land Partition LP-N-529-24, Replat R-N-88-24: City of Boardman, Applicant, and Owner:
	IV. Public Hearing.  Conditional Use Permit CUP-N-384-24: Martin Guzman, Applicant, and Owner
	Conflicts of interest: None
	Other Business:  Discussion about ADU’s per Brian Thompson
	January Planning Update
	Correspondence: None
	Public Comment: None
	Adjourned: Meeting adjourned at 7:46 PM

	ADP3B98.tmp
	Sheet2

	Exhibit list w-docs for LP-N-529-24.pdf
	ADP672.tmp
	Sheet2





